Sustainable Nutrient Management in a Typical Uruguayan Dairy Farm through Nutrient Budget and Modelling

Submitted in fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master in Sustainability in Sustainable Regional Development

Ignacio Sommer Giambruno

Agricultural Engineer, University of the Republic of Uruguay

FACULTY OF SCIENCE, ENGINEERING AND BUILT ENVIRONMENT SCHOOL OF LIFE AND ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCES DEAKIN UNIVERSITY

December 2021



I am the author of the thesis entitled **Sustainable Nutrient Management in a Typical Uruguayan Dairy Farm through Nutrient Budget and Modelling**, submitted for the degree of Master of Science (Research) in Sustainability - Sustainable Regional Development.

This thesis may be made available for consultation, loan and limited copying in accordance with the Copyright Act 1968.

'I certify that I am the student named below and that the information provided in the form is correct'

Full Name: Ignacio Sommer Giambruno

Signed: Signature Redacted by Library

Date: 23/12/2021



I certify the following about the thesis entitled Sustainable Nutrient Management in a Typical

Uruguayan Dairy Farm through Nutrient Budget and Modelling, submitted for the degree of

Master of Science (Research) in Sustainability - Sustainable Regional Development.

a. I am the creator of all or part of the whole work(s) (including content and layout) and that where reference is made to the work of others, due acknowledgment is given.

b. The work(s) are not in any way a violation or infringement of any copyright, trademark, patent, or other rights whatsoever of any person.

c. That if the work(s) have been commissioned, sponsored or supported by any organisation, I have fulfilled all of the obligations required by such contract or agreement.

d. That any material in the thesis which has been accepted for a degree or diploma by any university or institution is identified in the text.

e. All research integrity requirements have been complied with.

'I certify that I am the student named below and that the information provided in the form is correct'

Full Name: Ignacio Sommer Giambruno

Signed: Signature Redacted by Library

Date: 23/12/2021

Deakin University CRICOS Provider Code 00113B

ABSTRACT - Uruguayan dairy production is fundamental for this country and is under scrutiny due to the environmental impacts that it causes. The impacts are primarily the result of inefficient management practices, which lead to excessive use of nutrients – mainly nitrogen and phosphorus - and their surplus flow into the environment affecting rivers, groundwater and soil. In this context, this thesis aimed to generate new knowledge for informing the Uruguayan dairy sector to achieve a more sustainable production by understanding which farming management practices maximise nutrient efficiency and reduce environmental damage. It also aimed to contribute to the strategic planning of the Uruguayan Government for achieving a sustainable dairy farm production system.

The thesis implemented a multi-methodological approach to the case study of a typical Uruguayan dairy farm through the application of the *Nutrient Budget Method* and an agent-based model called *Nitrogen Phosphorous Management* (NPM). The combined results from their application demonstrated that, along with the use of correct management practices, it is possible to be more efficient in nutrient use and, in this way, dairy production systems can be less dependent on nutrient inputs.

The main findings indicated that nitrogen biological fixation, pastoral diets, cows' stocking rate and phosphorous accumulation in soils are key management variables that affect nutrient efficiency and environmental impacts. Furthermore, it was concluded that the presentation and discussion of important research outcomes in a *collective learning* approach between researchers and farmers improves their understanding of environmentally-friendly practices as well as enhance their essential roles as sustainable managers, on behalf of society, of finite natural resources.

Keywords: Agent-based Modelling, Dairy Farmers, Nutrient Budget, Nutrient Efficiency, Sustainable Development

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

To begin with, I want to express my gratitude to my supervisors who accompanied me throughout this Master and Research process: Professors Victor Sposito and Robert Faggian from Deakin University-Australia and Professor Francisco Dieguez from the Faculty of Veterinary from UdelaR-Uruguay. I also want to thank the ANII for allowing me to study at Deakin University in Australia and making this dream possible. Moreover, I express my thankfulness to the family of the Case Study dairy farm and the group of farmers involved in the process, I appreciate their willingness to participate and provide their knowledge. I am also thankful to Stephen Willows, Patricia Nemcovsky and Patricia Barreto for their support.

I am especially grateful to my closest people for their unconditional strength and love: my parents Monica and Antonio; siblings Majo, Xime, Andy; and family for their total support in this dream. To my friends that accompanied me on this adventure both in Australia and Uruguay.

Finally, a special thanks to Luli for being with me always, no matter the distance or the difficulties, being my companion on the road of life.

Simply thanks!

ABSTRACT	iii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	iv
LIST OF FIGURES	vii
LIST OF TABLES	viii
GLOSSARY	ix
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xiii
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	
1.1. Research Context	
1.2. Research Aims and Research Questions	6
1.3. Expected Outcomes	7
1.4. Thesis Outline	
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	
2.1. Sustainable Development	
2.2. System Thinking	
2.3. Agroecosystems and Nutrient Contamination	
2.3.1 Dairy farm contamination	
2.4. Nutrient's Dynamics in a Farm	
2.4.1. Nitrogen dynamics	
2.4.2. Phosphorous dynamics	
2.5. Management Strategies	
2.5.1. Land use	
2.5.2. Type of animal's diet	
2.5.3. Stocking rate	
2.5.4. Synthetic fertilizer and effluent management	
2.6. Nutrient Budgeting Approach	
2.7. Modelling Approach	
2.7.1. ODD protocol	
CHAPTER 3: METHODOLOGY	
3.1. Research Methodology	
3.2. Case Study	
3.2.1. Uruguayan dairy farm context	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

3.2.2. Main of Characteristics of the Case Study Farm	50
3.3. Nutrients Budgets	54
3.4. NPM Agent-based Model	
3.4.1. Purpose	
3.4.2. Entities and states variables	
3.4.3. Process overview and scheduling	59
3.4.4. Design concepts	59
3.4.5. Initialization	60
3.4.6. Input Data	60
3.5. Farm management scenarios	61
CHAPTER 4: RESULTS	
4.1. Stage 1 - Problem Formulation	
4.2. Stage 2 - Situation and Diagnosis	64
4.2.1. Social-ecological dairy farm framework	64
4.2.2. Nutrient budgets	69
4.2.3. Agent based model NPM	
4.3. Stage 3 - Scenarios as Possible Solutions	
4.3.1. Land use	
4.3.2. Type of diet	
4.3.3. Stocking rate	
4.3.4. Effluent management	
CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION	
5.1. Problem Formulated and Nutrient Dynamics	
5.1.1. Nutrients budgets and NPM model	
5.1.2. Farm management scenarios	
5.2. Collective Learning and Sustainable Dairy Farm	
CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSION	
6.1. Fundamental Findings	
6.2. Contribution to Knowledge – Answer to the Research Questions	
6.3. Methodological Considerations and Research Limitations	
6.4. Further Research	
6.5. A Journey of Exploration	

REFERENCES	100
APPENDICES	114
A.1. Ethics approval from FVET UDELAR Uruguay as Co-Supervising Institution	114
A.2. Participant Consent Form	115
A.3. Collective Learning	116
A.4. Data for nutrient budget, ABM, and scenarios	118
A.5. NPM agent-based model	119
A.6. Dairy farm case study	120
A.7. Scenarios	120

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Map of Uruguay in South America	2
Figure 2. Economic relevance of Uruguayan agriculture	3
Figure 3. Literature Review Framework	10
Figure 4. Decision-making spaces for sustainable development	12
Figure 5. Direct and indirect drivers of change	13
Figure 6. Multifunctional agriculture	14
Figure 7. Planetary Boundaries	19
Figure 8. Eutrophication effects	20
Figure 9. Uruguayan agriculture GHG emissions	21
Figure 10. Main N flows and losses in agricultural systems	23
Figure 11. Relation between N input and N output	25
Figure 12. Representation of P agroecosystem response, processes, and lag time	
Figure 13. Nutrient's circularity	35
Figure 14. Dairy farm nutrient budgets: farm-gate (a), field (b) and farm-system (c)	37
Figure 15 . Diagram of N and P inputs and outputs in agroecosystems	38
Figure 16. Structure of model descriptions using the ODD protocol	42
Figure 17. Research multimethodology	44
Figure 18. Research Stages and Methods	45
Figure 19. Map of Uruguay in South America	47
Figure 20. Percentage of dairy farm per area of evaluation	
Figure 21. Farm location	50
Figure 22. 'Tambo' area and their paddocks	52
Figure 23. Total farm paddocks, 'Tambo' and 'rest of the area' paddocks	53
Figure 24. Nutrient budget dairy farm	54
Figure 25. NPM Model process.	57
Figure 26. Rich Picture of a Dairy Farm	63
Figure 27. System Dynamic	65
Figure 28. Dairy farm and drivers of change	67
Figure 29. N inputs 'Tambo' paddocks	
Figure 30. N outputs 'Tambo' paddocks	70
Figure 31. Environmental N outputs 'Tambo' paddocks	71
Figure 32. P inputs 'Tambo' paddocks	72
Figure 33. P outputs 'Tambo' paddocks	
Figure 34. Environmental P outputs 'Tambo' paddocks	
Figure 35. N inputs and outputs whole farm	
Figure 36. P inputs and outputs whole farm	
Figure 37 NPM model	77
Figure 38. Cows use efficiency	
Figure 39 Results of 2020 simulation	79
Figure 40 Soil P dynamic	80
Figure 41 Soil N dynamics	81
Figure 42. N inputs for scenario 1	82
Figure 43 N inputs for scenario 2	02
Figure 44 N and P inputs scenario 4 Whole Farm	
1 gare 1 11, and 1 mpub beenario 1 (thore I and and a second seco	····· 0-r

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Thesis outline	9
Table 2. Uruguayan Dairy farms typology INALE	49
Table 3. Case study summary	51
Table 4. Summary of farm inputs and outputs	55
Table 5. Scenarios evaluated	61
Table 6. Nitrogen budget of 'Tambo'	69
Table 7. Phosphorous budget of 'Tambo'	72
Table 8. Nitrogen budget of the whole farm	74
Table 9. Phosphorous budget of the whole farm	75
Table 10. Farm management practices scenarios	82
Table 11. Data for nutrient budget, ABM, and scenarios	118
Table 12. Entities and States Variables of NPM model	119
Table 13. Case study summary and comparison with typology INALE	120
Table 14. Scenario 1 'Tambo' nitrogen budget	120
Table 15. Scenario 1 'Tambo' phosphorous budget	121
Table 16. Scenario 2 'Tambo' nitrogen budget	121
Table 17. Scenario 2 'Tambo' phosphorous budget	121
Table 18. Scenario 3 'Tambo' nitrogen budget	122
Table 19. Scenario 3 'Tambo' phosphorous budget	122
Table 20. Scenario 4 Whole Farm nitrogen budget	122
Table 21. Scenario 4 Whole Farm phosphorous budget	123

GLOSSARY

Adaptation: The process of adjustment to actual or expected climate and its effects...In some natural systems, human intervention may facilitate adjustment to expected climate and its effects' (IPCC, 2014).

Agent-Based Model: 'This model is an appropriate tool to be used in systems composed of autonomous 'agents' that interact with each other and their environment, differ from each other and over space and time' (Railsback and Grimm 2019).

Circular Economy: 'A model of economic, social, and environmental way of producing and consuming that eliminates the concept of waste. It is proposed as opposite as the model of linear economy, in which industrialized food systems are based' (Ellen MacArthur Foundation, 2013).

Climate Change: 'A change of climate which is attributed directly or indirectly to human activity that alters the composition of the global atmosphere and which is in addition to natural climate variability observed over comparable time periods' (UNFCCC, 1992).

Collective Learning: 'Model based on open learning among diverse interests that can improve communication and achieve lasting system change' (Brown and Lambert 2012).

Dairy Farm Effluent: 'All material (solid or liquid) that has been in contact with animal manure and is destined for storage or application to land. This includes the manure itself (i.e., faeces and urine) as well as any wash-water, bedding material, feed, milk, etc. that is mixed with it' (Dairy NZ 2015).

Efficiency: 'Efficiency is perceived as maximising products with the minimum possible use of external subsidies' (Llanos et al. 2013).

Environmental impact: 'Any change to the environment, whether adverse or beneficial, wholly or partially resulting from an organization's activities, products or services' (FAO 2018a).

Eutrophication: 'Over-enrichment of water by nutrients such as nitrogen and phosphorus. It is one of the leading causes of water quality impairment. The two most acute symptoms of eutrophication are hypoxia (or oxygen depletion) and harmful algal blooms' (IPCC 2014).

Excreta: 'Waste expelled from the body: faeces plus urine' (Pain and Menzi 2011 cited by FAO 2018a).

Footprint: 'Metrics used to report life cycle assessment results addressing an area of concern' (Ridoutt et al., 2016 cited by FAO 2018a).

Hard System Thinking (HST): 'HST approaches are goal-orientated in tackling structured problems, mainly in the physical field, where defined objectives and constraints exist and the significant variables are generally quantifiable' (Sposito 2021).

Input: 'Product, material or energy flow that enters a unit process' (FAO 2018a).

Land Use: 'The total arrangements, activities, and inputs undertaken in a certain land cover type. The term land use is also used in the sense of the social and economic purposes for which land is managed' (IPCC, 2014). **Livestock:** 'Domesticated terrestrial animals that are raised to provide a diverse array of goods and services such as traction, meat, milk, eggs, hides, fibres and feathers' (FAO, 2018b).

Mitigation: 'An anthropogenic intervention to reduce the sources or enhance the sinks of greenhouse gases (GHGs)' (IPCC, 2014).

Multi Methodology: 'The combinations of methodologies (possibly from different paradigms) and methods together in a single intervention' (Jackson, 2019).

Output: 'Product, material or energy flow that leaves a unit process' (FAO 2018a).

Paradigm: 'A set of theories, concepts, methodologies, and methods in relation to a specific field' (Sposito, 2020b).

Planetary boundaries: 'Planetary boundaries within which we expect that humanity can operate safely. Transgressing one or more planetary boundaries may be deleterious or even catastrophic due to the risk of crossing thresholds that will trigger non-linear, abrupt environmental change within continental- to planetary-scale systems' (Rockström et al. 2009).

Production system: 'The scale, purpose and nature of the farming enterprise' (FAO, 2018a).

Resilience: 'The capacity of social, economic and environmental systems to cope with a hazardous event or trend or disturbance, responding or reorganizing in ways that maintain their essential function, identity, and structure, while also maintaining the capacity for adaptation, learning, and transformation' (IPCC, 2014).

Risk: 'The potential for consequences where something of value is at stake and where the outcome is uncertain, recognizing the diversity of values. Risk is often represented as probability or likelihood of occurrence of hazardous events or trends multiplied by the impacts if these events or trends occur' (IPCC, 2014).

Soft System Methodology (SSM): 'An epistemology which enables you to learn your way to taking action to improve a problematical situation or a wicked situation' (Checkland, 1981).

Sustainable Development: 'The ability to make development sustainable to ensure that it meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs' (WCED, 1987).

System approach: 'Approach that considers the production variables and system components in a holistic way' (Sposito 2021).

Uncertainty: 'A state of incomplete knowledge that can result from a lack of information or from disagreement about what is known or even knowable' (IPCC, 2014).

Vulnerability: The propensity or predisposition to be adversely affected (IPCC, 2014).

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Initials	Meaning
BNF	Biological Nitrogen Fixation
CH ₄	Methane
CO_2	Carbon Dioxide
CONAPROLE	National Cooperative of Milk Producers
DIEA	Office of Agricultural Statistics
DM	Dry matter
FAGRO	Faculty of Agronomy
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations
GHGs	Greenhouse Gases
GIS	Geographic Information System
На	Hectare
HST	Hard Systems Thinking
INALE	National Milk Institute
INIA	National Institute of Agricultural Research
IPA	Agricultural Plan Institute
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
Kg	Kilogram
L	Litres
МА	Ministry of Environment of Uruguay
MGAP	Ministry of Agriculture, Livestock and Fisheries of Uruguay
MUN	Milk Urea Nitrogen
MVOTMA	Ministry of Housing, Territorial Planning, and the Environment of Uruguay
Ν	Nitrogen
NO	Nitrogen Oxide
NO ₃	Nitrate
NBF	Nitrogen Biological Fixation
NPM	Nitrogen Phosphorous Management Model
NUE	Nitrogen Use Efficiency
N ₂ O	Nitrous Oxide
Р	Phosphorous
PO4 ³⁻	Phosphate
PUE	Phosphorous Use Efficiency
PPM	Parts Per Million
SSM	Soft Systems Methodologies
UDELAR	University of the Republic, Uruguay
VM	Milking and Dry cows
VO	Milking cows
WECD	World Commission on the Environment and Development

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

This chapter explains the research background and the problematic situation under study. It includes the thesis' aims and research questions, which are followed by the expected outcomes. Finally, a diagram of the thesis structure is included.

1.1. Research Context

A significant volume of international research has been published on the agriculture impacts in natural resources, particularly water systems, and biodiversity in current circumstances as well as in unfolding climatic changes (Moss 2008, Tubiello et al. 2015, Darré et al. 2021).

The international efforts have resulted in multiple national policies to meet agreed standards for mitigating the environmental impacts of food and fibre production (IPCC et al. 2015). Therefore, objectively quantifying the environmental impacts of agriculture is a fundamental requirement in research and protocols for the management of commercial production systems (Tubiello et al. 2015).

Uruguay, in South America, is primarily an agricultural-based country. Their extension is 176.000 km2, where approximately 160.000 km2 are good soils for potential agricultural utilization (INE 2011). The country has moderate temperatures and a good regime of precipitations. It is thus an interesting developing country to assess the different environmental effects caused by agriculture as well as examine feasible solutions to improve the perceived problematic situations.

The following figure shows the location of Uruguay in South America.



Figure 1. Map of Uruguay in South America. Source: elaborated by the author, adapted from Google Maps (2021).

One of the principal agricultural sectors in Uruguay is the dairy industry, which involves 3,300 dairy farmers with an annual production of 2,200 million litres of milk (INALE 2021). The dairy industry is also essential for this country due to the labour involved and the national and regional/rural income it generates. Thirty per cent (30%) of industrialized milk is for internal consumption and seventy per cent (70%) is destined for export, making Uruguay the seventh-largest milk exporter in the world (INALE 2021). Figure 2 shows the main economic indicators of agriculture, in general, and dairy, in particular.



Figure 2. Economic relevance of Uruguayan agriculture.

Source: World Bank and CIAT (2015 p. 2).

The quantification of the environmental impacts at a national geographic level must take into account the specific characteristics of agriculture and the whole production context in the country of concern (IPCC 2019a). According to the Ministry of the Environment of Uruguay (MA 2020), the largest contributor to greenhouse gases (GHGs) in Uruguay is the agricultural sector and the gases with the major contribution are nitrous oxide and methane. Especially in dairy farms, the carbon footprint is dominated by the agricultural production phase, with methane emissions coming mainly from the food fermentation that occurs in the rumen and nitrous oxide emissions from nitrogen (N) excretion in urine and the application of N-based fertilizers (Lizarralde 2013).

Similarly, it is necessary to evaluate nutrients export from dairy farms to other ecosystems such as watercourses (Tayyab and McLean 2015). The environmental impact of dairy farms is a major contributor to river eutrophication; for example in the Santa Lucía River Basin of Uruguay (Aubriot et al. 2017). This large basin is the main source of drinking water in this country and their

contamination is partly associated with the historical presence of dairy farms in its catchment since it is a predominant region of dairy production (Aubriot et al. 2017).

An agroecosystem sustainability approach seems to be an appropriate tool to address the nutrients environmental impact of dairy farms in order to achieve a robust ecological foundation, using the ecosystem knowledge inherent to agroecology (Gliessman 2004). Furthermore, this approach considers the production variables and system components in a holistic way (Sposito 2021). The complexity of the management practices interacting with the diversity of soil type, topography, climate, and hydrology generates a substantial spatial and temporal variation in nutrient pollution, making necessary a national-level evaluation (Cherry et al. 2008).

Moreover, Rockström et al. (2009, p.1) stated that at a global scale, there are high-risk zones for the *Planetary Boundaries* – limits within which expect that humanity can operate safely - in the biogeochemical cycles of N and phosphorous (P) because of the growth of fertilizers' use in modern agriculture. This means that the agricultural intensification through the subsidy of production systems with external nutrients inputs must be both questioned and evaluated. Because of this, it is essential to understand the structural and functional relations between different components of agricultural production systems.

According to Lizarralde and Astigarraga (2014), when the production efficiency increases - for example, when animal production augments with the same number of external inputs - the environmental impact due to N and P surplus as well as their carbon footprint tend to decrease. Therefore, farm-scale analysis and the quantification of the management practices are essential for achieving farms with efficient nutrient utilization and reductions in their negative environmental impacts.

4

Several researchers, such as Carbó (2011) and Gourley et al. (2012), consider that nutrient budget analysis enables to adjust the agriculture management practices in order to reducing nutrients losses to the environment and improve the monetary margins accruing to farmers. *Nutrient Budget* is a method to evaluate a farm's nutrient performance (see Section 2.6). In addition to supporting farmers' nutrient management decisions, the budgets can be valuable for informing policy-making and as regulatory tools in themselves (Gourley et al. 2007).

It is considered then that there is a necessity for prioritizing and focusing research on measures for mitigating N loss to enhance environmental and agricultural sustainability (Zhang and Yu 2020). Similarly, Sharpley et al. (2015) stated that further research is required through modelling the phosphorus losses to water systems.

According to Railsback and Grimm 2019, *Agent-Based Modelling* (ABM) is a very useful instrument (or tool) for representing complex agroecosystem possibilities and finding solutions related to environmental problematic situations (see Section 2.7). This means that the evaluation of environmental contamination by nutrients and agriculture practices can be appropriately made by ABM. The system's approach of ABM is especially convenient because farm nutrient pollution is a complex problem with many agents involved, and ABM further enables modelling in geographic *space and time*.

To conclude the outline of the problematic situation caused by current agricultural practices in Uruguay (and in similar countries), this thesis' approach is considered important to this country in its expected contribution to achieving sustainable dairy farm production. According to the literature briefly described above and comprehensively covered in Chapter 2, there is a compelling needed to evaluating the management practices in dairy farms to reduce nutrient contamination to the environment. In particular, this thesis intends to contribute to the understanding of what a sustainable dairy farm approach is through nutrient budgets and ABM modelling.

1.2. Research Aims and Research Questions

In the above context, this thesis aims to generate new knowledge for informing the Uruguayan dairy sector to achieve a more sustainable production by comprehending which farming management practices maximise nutrient efficiency and reduce environmental damage. It also aims to contribute to the strategic planning of the Uruguayan Government to achieve sustainable dairy farm production across the country.

The research focuses, in particular, on understanding which farming management practices maximise nitrogen (N) and phosphorous (P) utilisation efficiency to reduce losses, and negative environmental impacts, to the environment. The approach is based on a case study involving a typical dairy farm within the national productive, socio-ecological, and economic Uruguayan context.

The following research questions guide the research.

Research Question 1 (RQ 1) - How can the current Uruguayan dairy farm configuration be transformed to be more sustainable?

Research Question 2 (RQ 2) - Which are the dairy farm management practices that reduce nutrient pollution?

Research Question 3 (RQ 3) - Which management scenarios maximize nutrient efficiency and, at the same time, minimize the nutrient losses to the environment?

Research Question 4 (RQ 4) - Can Agent-based Modelling (ABM) spatialize the nutrient dynamics of a dairy farm?

In addition, this research intends to assist farmers in their decision-making by developing different research outcomes and analysing and discussing them with farmers in a *collective learning* approach. It is considered that this would contribute to the improvement of farmers' understanding of environmentally friendly practices as well as enhancing their role as managers, on behalf of society, of finite natural resources.

1.3. Expected Outcomes

Taking into consideration the aims described above, the expected outcomes of this research are the following.

- The development of a nutrient budget evaluation of a typical Uruguayan dairy farm. This evaluation should provide sufficient information to be used as a farm decision support tool. Nutrient budgeting focuses on nutrient efficiency and assessment; subsidy (external inputs) rate; estimation of environmental losses, like leaching and volatilization; among other productive and environmental variables.
- The development of the *Nitrogen Phosphorous Management Model* (NPM), an Agent-Based Model. This will permit modelling the impact of agriculture management practices via N and P dynamics in a typical dairy farm. This is very useful for farmers and decision-makers to model different management practices as well as design and assess feasible farm-scale solutions.

- The thesis also includes technical conclusions on the Uruguayan dairy farm context. This information related to sustainable dairy farming and efficient management practices is helpful to apply at a farm and regional/local scales. As a result, it is possible to reduce the losses of nutrients to the environment, maximize dairy production and contribute to the sustainable development of dairy farms.
- The research outcomes can be used to assist the strategic planning of the Uruguayan Government to achieve sustainable dairy farm production. Specifically, they can contribute to nationals plans to reduce the nutrient contamination to waterways and to the goal of greenhouse gas reduction (MGAP 2019; MVOTMA 2019).

The outcomes of the research were presented to a Uruguayan dairy farmers' group in which the case study farmer is a member (and participant at the meetings with the group). As will be discussed, it is possible to promote collective learning and contribute to sustainable development at the farm level with this type of interactions. The research beneficiaries include the dairy farmers, as the research outcomes can improve their knowledge and improve their decision-making. The research can also enhance the knowledge and skills of agricultural technicians and its use as farmers' assistance instruments. Finally, the research is also significant for planners and other researchers in environmental and agricultural planning.

1.4. Thesis Outline

The thesis has been structured in six main chapters as shown in the following table.

Table 1. Thesis outline

1	Introduction: This chapter provides the overall research context and framework including an outline of the research
I	introduction. This chapter provides the overall research context and framework, including all outline of the research
	aims, questions, and expected outcomes.
2	Literature Review: The second chapter summarises the significant theoretical approaches and literature related to
-	
	dairy farm management practices, emphasising sustainability and nutrient dynamics. It includes several topics and
	approaches that provide the essential elements that guide and support the analysis of this thesis – especially nutrient
	budget and modelling.
3	Research Methodology: This chapter firstly includes a description of the multi-methodology and the key methods
-	
	used in the research. Secondly, a description of the Uruguayan dairy farm context and the dairy farm case study is
	presented. Finally, the nutrient's budgets and the agent-based model Nitrogen Phosphorous Management (NPM) - are
	explained.
4	Results: This chapter presents the results of the research through the application of the methods included in the
	methodology Stage 1 of the methodology problem formulation is carried our using a Rich Picture method Results of
	incurodology. Suge 1 of the incurodology, problem jormalation is carried our using a Kich Picture incurod. Results of
	the Stage 2, situation and diagnosis are described through a social-ecological dairy farm framework, the nutrients
	budgets, and the agent-based model (NPM). Finally, the analysis of management scenarios is presented as a guide to
	possible <i>solutions</i> (Stage 3) to the formulated problem.
5	Discussion: This chapter discusses the main findings in the first three methodological stages - problem formulation,
	situation and diagnosis, and solutions, and compare them with other relevant studies. The analysis and discussion are
	particularly focus on the problem formulated, the nutrient dynamic results, and the collective learning and sustainable
	dairy farming. The applications of nutriant hudget and agent based model in a farm scale are also analysed
	dairy faithing. The applications of nutrient budget and agent-based model in a faith-scale are also analysed.
6	Conclusion: In this final chapter, the main findings of the research are firstly summarised. Secondly, the contribution
	to knowledge is described by reference to the answering of the <i>Research Questions</i> posed at the beginning of the study
	to ano measo is described by reference to the answering of the Research Questions posed at the beginning of the study.
	Thirdly, some research limitations and methodological considerations are mentioned. Further research in the topic and
	specific directions for improvement are then discussed. The chapter concludes with a personal reflection
	specific enceners for improvement are then encentred on the encepter concludes what a personal reflection.

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

This chapter discusses the main literature underpinning the thesis' research. It includes several topics and approaches that provide the essential elements that guide and support the analysis of this thesis.

Figure 3 depicts the Literature Review framework, representing the main topics, the various approaches that support the research and the relationships between them.



Figure 3. Literature Review Framework.

Source: elaborated by the author.

2.1. Sustainable Development

It is necessary to clarify in general terms what is meant by *sustainability* and *sustainable development*. While the first term refers to the state that a system (i.e.; an economic, social, environmental, or organisational entity) can persist over time, the second term can be defined as the path or framework to achieve sustainability (Sposito 2020a).

In the same line, WCED (1987, p.15) defined sustainable development as the 'development that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs'. The Brundtland Report (WCED, 1987) stressed that economic development is threatened if the natural resources upon which development is based are degraded. It is also stated that economic growth has been not considering the finite resources and the environmental effects on these limited natural resources.

For these reasons, a *holistic approach to sustainable development requires a multi-dimensional perspective focused on four spaces or fields: economic, ecologic, organizational, and socio- cultural* (Sposito 2020b). Sustainable development is situated in the intersection of the spaces, as is represented in Figure 4. This significant notion is based on System Thinking and the concept of topological spaces as proposed by the French economist Perroux (Sposito 2020b).

Moreover, this approach highlights that to achieve the sustainable development in the four is essential having a goal or vision for the long term and actions for the short term. According to Sposito (2020a, p. 57), 'the decision-making fields reflect the need for a holistic approach to reconcile socio-cultural, economic, and environmental values and principles for the long-term conservation of the environment and the present and future community's well-being'.



Figure 4. Decision-making spaces for sustainable development.

Source: Sposito (2020b, p.166).

According to Sposito (2020), each of the spaces has a strategic objective - protecting the integrity and resilience of ecosystems (ecological field), improving human welfare (economic field), enriching human development (socio-cultural field) and developing sustainable organisations/institutions (organisational field). Also, the complex systems have direct and indirect drivers of change that operate in that sustainable development spaces, as is summarised in the following figure.



Figure 5. Direct and indirect drivers of change.

Source: Sposito (2020b p. 10).

According to Sposito 2020a, ecologists have developed the concept of *ecological integrity* (general health and resilience of a system) to understand how agroecosystems respond to environmental change. Resilience is defined as 'the capacity of a system to absorb disturbances and sustain and develop its fundamental function, structure, identity and feedbacks through either recovery or reorganisation in another context; that is, its ability to adapt to change' (Sposito 2020a, p.53). In the same line, Mazzeo et al. (2017a) states that resilient thinking intends to understand the mechanisms that ensure the system's resilience in confronting the drivers of change.

The *multifunctional agriculture* approach considers providing food and conserving natural resources and biodiversity, giving society recreation and tourism, generating employment and economic incomes, and creating a rural culture (Sposito 2020b). Moreover, the multifunctional agriculture concept can be related to environmental, economic, and social capital, as the figure below represents.



Figure 6. Multifunctional agriculture.

Source: Wilson, (2010, p. 367, cited by Sposito 2020b).

2.2. System Thinking

Modern System Thinking is a discipline which is especially useful in scientific research, planning, and decision-making. During the last five decades, scientists have been moving 'from a traditional reductionist approach to a holistic approach due to the necessity of facing complex problems that are undefined and risky' (Sposito 2021, p. i).

According to Sposito (2021, p.18), there are two fundamental aspects in the system's idea: 'holism in viewing the reality perceived and systems methodologies to deal with the issues (problems and opportunities) that exist in that perceived reality'. *Holism* is the crucial idea of System Thinking and refers to that the notion that the total is greater than the sum of its parts and cannot be explained only with the nature and constitution of their parts. The other most significant aspect of System Thinking is using a diversity of *systems methodologies* to tackle complex, risky, and uncertain problematic situations. The methodologies are generally structured in well-defined stages, or phases or steps, to ensure the systematic planning, evaluation, and implementation of the actions taken to improve the perceived problematic situation (Sposito 2021).

Another important idea from Systems Thinking is the notion of *multimethodology*. Multimethodology refers to linking different methodologies and methods, probably from different paradigms in a single systemic intervention (Jackson 2019). A multimethodology approach allows 'to address different aspects of problem situations and ensure that technical and practical requirements and stakeholders' interests are given proper consideration (Sposito 2021, p. 78).

There are two major forms of System Thinking, *soft and hard*. While soft system approaches are applied to the procedure of dealing with the world, hard system thinking (HST) approaches are goal-oriented to tackle the (physical) world (Sposito 2021).

The process of inquiry in the soft system approaches is ordered as a *learning system*. The most extensive approach used in this group is Peter Checkland's *Soft System Methodology*. It is defined as 'an action-oriented process of inquiry into problematical situations in the everyday world; users learn their way from finding out about the situation to defining/taking action to improve it' (Checkland and Poulter 2006, p. 22). Furthermore, Checkland's SSM commonly tackles ill-

structured issues that are difficult to be quantified especially those associated with humanmediated problematic situations (Sposito 2021).

In contrast, HST methodologies are goal-orientated to tackle quantifiable structured problems in the physical field. The use of simulations is common in HST, deploying diverse methods and models.

A systems methodology - and methods (from the focus methodology itself or from other systems methodologies) - is generally used as a *framework* for the analysis of the system of concern and problematic situation(s) in which the system is immersed. There are many methods that can be appropriately deployed from both soft and hard systems thinking according to the uniqueness of the problematic situation, and the people in the situation, to assist in planning and decision making. It is however convenient to apply most than one method to ensuring that the key aspects of the system of interest are holistically understood. Therefore, it is essential for decision-makers and planners to utilise a multimethodological framework (Sposito 2020a).

An example of a SSM method to analyse messy situations is the *Rich Picture* (RP) formulated by Checkland himself. A RP depicts the perceived problematic situation's relationships, viewpoints, structures and issues. By contrast. (mathematical) models – as simplification of reality - are essential components of HST to explore a system behaviour, capturing their variables and their interactions (Sposito 2021). According to Jackson (2011), once the model is built, it is possible to explore how the system behaves without taking any action that may negatively impact in the system itself - see Section 2.7 an example of Agent-based modelling.

2.3. Agroecosystems and Nutrient Contamination

System Thinking is particularly appropriate to apply in environmental and natural science. For instance, to tackle to agricultural problems where the relations between environment, economy and social systems are complex.

It is generally possible to specify a system with four elements: the inputs, the outputs, the states and a description as a model, or transformation, that relates inputs, outputs, and the system's states over time (Sposito 2021).

The application of System Thinking to agriculture and livestock production enables the conceptualisation and description of an agroecosystem with two kinds of outputs (Hart, 1985). One type of output is related to *services and goods*, whilst the other type of output is related to *production processes*. According to Hart, the second output is associated with the environmental damage caused to the agroecosystem.

The inputs of the system are often considered as external *subsidies*. In production systems, efficiency is perceived as maximising products with the minimum possible use of external subsidies. According to Llanos et al. (2013), in pastoral dairy farms, the subsidies, interpreted as inputs, include, for instance, animal feed and fertilisers.

Moreover, to define a system is necessary to comprehend its *operation* (Meadows 2010). The system's operation is given by the relation between components, as the processing of inputs, through internal flows of matter and energy, to produce outputs. The system definition must then consider monitoring the systems variables and a dynamic modelling of the problem.

In an agricultural production system, according to Dieguez et al. (2008), there is a linear relationship between the N inputs and the surplus losses to the environment. This indicates the limited capacity of retaining nutrients in products and that the excess is generally lost to the environment. In the same line, Veltman et al. (2017) state a complex connection between the efficient use of resources, environmental impact, and productivity increment. Likewise, when the production efficiency rises, the N and P surplus and carbon footprint tend to decline (Lizarralde and Astigarraga 2014).

Furthermore, Rockström et al. (2009) stated that the biogeochemical cycles of macronutrients are essential in agroecosystems. These nutrient cycles have been modified across history by humankind because of agricultural and industrial activities. In general terms, the N and P movement is accelerated through the agroecosystem by agriculture intensification and is associated with water flows. Water streams work as nutrient conductors, and because of runoff, water deposits function as a nutrient sink. This impact on the biogeochemical cycle of nutrients also contributes to climate change because of the increment of emission of greenhouse gases such as nitrous oxide. These are some of the anthropogenic pressures included by Rockström et al. (2009) in the Planetary Boundaries framework.

The planetary boundaries consist of nine biophysical processes that regulate the Earth system, as the following figure represents. Each of the processes has a threshold that if transgressed, it can be harmful or catastrophic due to the risk of destabilising the biosphere. These limits thus describe 'a safe operating space for humankind' to survive and develop (Rockström et al. 2009, p.2).



Figure 7. Planetary Boundaries.

Source: Steffen et al. (2015, p.1).

According to Smith (2003), the eutrophication of water systems is one of the principal environmental nutrient's impacts. Eutrophication is the over-enrichment of water by nutrients such as nitrogen and phosphorus (IPCC 2015). Although eutrophication is a natural process, human activity accelerates it.

The eutrophication in water systems provokes two main impacts - oxygen depletion and the explosive increment of damaging algal blooms (IPCC 2015). Another significant aspect of this phenomenon is the reduction of water quality and the change of freshwater ecological function and structure (Carpenter et al. 1998 cited in Dodds et al. 2009). Furthermore, the figure 8 depicts the key effects associated with nutrients' increment that impact on the value of freshwater ecosystem goods and services.



Figure 8. Eutrophication effects.

Source: Dodds et al. (2009, p. 12).

2.3.1 Dairy farm contamination

In many cases, the intensification of dairy production increases environmental impacts such as nutrient losses to streams and rivers and an increase in greenhouse gases (Baskaran et al. 2009). The contribution of dairy farms to nutrient losses to waterways can be categorized by *point and diffuse sources*. According to Tayyab & McLean (2015), the point sources are associated with grazing and water movement, and the diffuse or non-point sources involve fertilizer or manure applied in the paddock. Furthermore, a dairy farm's surface and groundwater contamination risk can be divided into geographical and property factors. These are influenced by the soil permeability, the slope and distance towards the watercourse, watercourse flow, water table depth and milking cows' number (DINAMA et al. 2008).

According to the Minister of Environment (ME 2020), the major contributor to the greenhouse gases of Uruguay is the agricultural sector. In this sector, the gases that produce the most significant contribution are N_2O and CH_4 , instead of having CO_2 as the principal GHG as other sectors. In dairy production, the primary carbon footprint is dominated by the agricultural phase (Lizarralde 2010). Furthermore, methane emissions come mainly from the food fermentation that occurs in the rumen. In reference to nitrous oxide, the main source of emissions is the excretion of N in the urine of animals and the N fertilizer applied (Lizarralde 2010).



Figure 9. Uruguayan agriculture GHG emissions.

Source: World Bank and CIAT (2015, p.4).

An example of dairy farm impact occurs in the Santa Lucia Basin of Uruguay through the significant effects of eutrophication (Barreto et al. 2017; Olano 2017; Delbene 2018). This large basin is a predominant dairy farm region with cultivated and natural pastures and is essential to Uruguay because it is the primary drinking water resource (Aubriot et al. 2017). Uruguayan
research found that the streams in basins with a higher proportion of dairy farms had lower quality than those with fewer dairy farms (Arocena et al. 2012). Similarly, Dodds et al. (2009) estimated that all the dairy farms ecoregions studied in North America had an excess of total N and P values for rivers and lakes.

2.4. Nutrient's Dynamics in a Farm

According to FAO (2018a) and Cherry et al. (2008), to comprehend the effect of farms management practices, it is essential to understand the nutrients dynamics. Consequently, in this section, the N and P main dynamics are described.

2.4.1. Nitrogen dynamics

Nitrogen is an essential nutrient for life and represents the fourth element in the abundance of biomolecules (Irisarri 2014). The N cycle in farm systems has three inevitable principal loss pathways: nitrate (NO₃) leaching, nitrous oxide (N₂O) emissions, and ammonia (NH₃) volatilization (Whitehead 1995 cited in Ryan et al. 2011). According to Eurostat (2011), significant N losses to the atmosphere occur in N₂O, NH₃, nitric oxide (NO) and dinitrogen (N₂). While NH₃, N₂O and NO are pollutants, the N₂ emission no. Apart from that, N losses to aquatic systems in nitrate, ammonium, and dissolved organic N, leading to pollution and reducing soil fertility. The following figure represents the N losses and flows schematically in agricultural systems.



Figure 10. Main N flows and losses in agricultural systems.

Source: Eurostat (2011 p. 8).

Davidson et al. (2012) state that the agriculture, industry, and energy sources have been duplicated the amount of annual reactive N in the soil. Similarly, Schlesinger (2009) claim that the current agriculture is increasing the amount of N fertilizer used and is altering the N cycle, growing the nutrient losses to the environment.

According to IPCC (2019b), N_2O is a regular gaseous product of the nitrification-denitrification processes, and the soil availability of inorganic N is the main controlling factor in this reaction. In Uruguay, it is estimated that 99% of this gas emission derive from the agricultural sector, and 90% of these come from the excretions of grazing animals (MVOTMA, 2010).

Furthermore, agricultural soils are considered the primary source of N_2O , including the N from the ground, recent atmospheric deposition, fertilization, crop residues and the presence in underground aquifers (Irissari 2014). According to Rochette and Janzen (2005), biological nitrogen fixation

(BNF) is not considered a direct source of N_2O because there is no evidence of significant emissions from this process.

According to Mosier et al. (1996), the increment of N₂O emissions has been related to the increase in N fertiliser use and the mineralisation rise of organic N in agricultural ecosystems because of changes in management or land use. In crops after fertilisation, the emissions usually increase for a relatively short period and then return to the initial level (Mosier 1998). The report of IPCC (2019b) states to assume a factor of 1% of the N added to the soil to prepare national inventories of N₂O from agriculture. Furthermore, the basal emission level is more related to the level of organic matter in the ground and its mineralisation rate, rather than only depending on recent additions of N to the soil (Peterson et al., 2006). Uruguayan research (Perdomo et al. 2009) found that the use of fertiliser in the crops did not increment the emission of N₂O, probably due to the high use efficiency by the cultivation (Perdomo et al.2009).

While Perdomo et al. (2009) found no consistent differences between the emission of N_2O from direct sowing compared to conventional tillage, other authors reported much higher N_2O fluxes under direct sowing (Ball et al. 1999 and Passianoto et al. 2003, cited in Perdomo et al. 2009).

Perdomo et al. (2009) also observed that the N_20 emissions were higher in continuous agriculture than in natural fields or grasslands. Also, Mosier et al. (1998) suggest minimizing the fallow period to decrease the N_2O emission. In the same way, Perdomo et al. (2009) demonstrated that the event with the highest emission of N_2O occurred in the fallow period.

In reference to BNF, Canfield et al. (2010) state that it is the largest source of fixed N in the biosphere, and it is carried out by prokaryotes collectively called diazotrophs. Díaz Rossello (1992)

demonstrated that the pastures rotation incorporated approximately 1 kilogram per hectare of total N by 25 kilograms of dry matter of aerial parts produced by legumes.

According to Cherry et al. (2008) and Davidson et al. (2015), improving nitrogen use efficiency (NUE) is the most effective form of increased productivity and decreased environmental impact. It is because, by restricting the N surplus, the process of leaching decrease considerably.

Furthermore, Ryan et al. (2011) state that if feeding N intake increases, N output in urine, feces, and milk increases, NH_3 emissions increase, N_2O emissions increase and NO_3 – leaching increases. In the same way, Rotz et al. 2005 state that when the N inputs increase, the N losses grow, as is represented in the following graph.



Figure 11. Relation between N input and N output.

Source: Rotz et al. (2005, p. 2142).

2.4.2. Phosphorous dynamics

Withers et al. (2014) stated that P is a primary macronutrient essential for the plant's growth, and agriculture production has increased its use since the last century. The current dependency of

inorganic P in conventional agriculture farms is limited because there are finite global reserves of rock phosphate (PO₄^{3–}). Besides, the reliance on inorganic fertilizers is increasingly inefficient and costly (Withers et al. 2014).

In contrast to N, soils' P buffer effect makes this nutrient need a more extended mitigation strategy. Also, the P soil affinity makes that to control its pollution is required to ´address susceptibility to particle dispersion, detachment, and transport along surface and subsurface pathways´ (Cherry et al. 2008, p. 4).

It has gone from deficit to excess situations of this nutrient in the soil (Withers et al. 2014). According to Fernández-Marcos (2011), phosphorus application in amounts greater than crop requirements lead to a progressive P concentration increment in the soil. Particularly in dairy farms, effluent and manure as organic fertilizer also contributed to this surplus.

The runoff and lixiviation are the main forms of P losses (Fernández-Marcos 2011). Furthermore, Withers et al. (2014) state that the P accumulation in soils and sediments leak into the surface waters and contribute to eutrophication. The P carried by runoff is in solid particles and dissolved phosphorus (Smith et al. 2017). These runoff losses are significant in sloping soils and soils with poor structure and a lack of vegetation cover that facilitate water erosion. Furthermore, the presence of dissolved phosphorus in the surface runoff water increases when the fertilizer is applied to the soil surface (Fernández-Marcos 2011).

According to De Lucca (2020), positive P balances are consequences of the constant inputs from the soil-surface fertilization and animal feed. Furthermore, the soil management of not tillage and the surface application of inorganic fertilizer or manure produces a P stratification of the soil (Smith et al. 2017). The stratification is the major amount of P in the first soil centimetres and the consequent increment of the potential losses of P by runoff, principally soluble form. Perdomo et al. (2015) and Castagno (2020) report high phosphorus stratification in the first 2.5 cm of soil in Uruguayan dairy farms.

In that way, Perdomo (2015) states that to evaluate runoff, the soil analysis of the first 2.5 centimetres of soil is better than the first 15 centimetres. It is because the soil layer that interacts with the runoff water is between 0 to 2.5 centimetres. Furthermore, it is documented that increases in total and soluble phosphorus loss are associated with direct seeding and stratification (Perdomo et al. 2015).

According to Sharpley et al. 2013, the historic fertilization of PO₄^{3–} sources on the surface, the direct deposition of manure by livestock and soil management generated a legacy of P. Because of this legacy, current mitigation practices are causing a smaller and slower water quality response (Sharpley et al. 2013). The store of P in the land, principally in the first layer of soil is masking the reduction of P losses and inducing the lag time for system response. Similarly, the research of De Lucca (2020) observed a long-term and continuous loss of soluble P in the test treatment caused by the P background or legacy.

Figure 12 represents the P agroecosystem response and the lag time influence of the natural, soil, and best management practices processes.



Figure 12. Representation of P agroecosystem response, processes, and lag time.

Source: Sharpley et al. (2013, p.1309).

De Lucca (2020) stated that management practices to reduce P losses to surface water bodies should contemplate the diminishment of soluble and particulate phosphorus. Furthermore, Kleinman et al. (2011) the losses of soluble phosphorus would not be affected by the introduction of management measures that reduce the rate of erosion but only by those that reduce the levels of labile phosphorus and the stratification of this nutrient in the upper layer of the soil. Several investigations (Kleinman et al. 2015 and De Lucca 2020) recommend periodic soil inversion to break P stratification and decrease available P levels on the surface layer. However, the soil inversion should be done in summer when the risk of erosion is low (Quincke et al., 2007; Smith et al., 2007 cited in De Lucca 2020). Also, it is necessary to carry out additional management

practices after this tillage to reduce risk, for example, planting fast-growing annual summer pastures (De Lucca 2020).

According to Sharpley et al. (2013), the most significant transport factors are the location in the basin, the soil management practices, the rainfall and runoff. These factors differ across the soils, and it is needed to identify the risk areas of export of phosphorus to decrease the diffuse contamination by this nutrient (Fernández-Marcos 2011). Because of that, it is helpful the P index method to predict the risk of farming P contamination (Sharpley et al. 2001). Perdomo et al. (2015) state that this index can estimate the P losses from agricultural soils. Similarly, Tayyab and McLean (2015) state that quantifying potential P losses, such as the Danish P index, is a prerequisite to achieve an efficient mitigation strategy.

2.5. Management Strategies

It is expected that the increment in food demand would increase not only the agricultural land used but also the production intensity associated with more nutrient's losses to the environment (Zhang et al. 2015). Numerous investigations have hence been focused on management practices and farm technologies to achieve efficient use of nutrients, reduce pollution and at the same time increment yields (Zhang et al. 2015; Charlón et al. 2014).

There are practicable opportunities to reduce the farm system environmental impact. For example, reducing the subsidies, incrementing the BNF, calculating proper doses and using effluents and manure to recycle nutrients (Charlón et al. 2014). The management strategies chosen to minimise nutrient losses to the environment depends on the farm condition and pollution risk (Fernández-Marcos 2011).

Farm nutrient management is complex, and many decision-making aspects are involved. In that sense, Pretty (2008) focused on the farmer's skills and knowledge, augmenting that the human capital increases the agroecosystem resilience and makes it more independent of costly external inputs.

The primary dairy farm management practices that impact N and P dynamics are expanded in the following subchapters.

2.5.1. Land use

Land use defines the proportion of land covered by crops, grass, legumes of the total farm area (IPCC, 2014). Also, its concept is associated with the land management of the farm. Both aspects can impact the nutrient's dynamics through several processes that are explained below.

The presence of legumes in the pastures can significantly reduce the farm N inputs because of the biological fixation of the species (Garcia et al. 2021). This process increments the N availability for the grass of the pasture. It means that the mixture of legumes with grass increases nutrient cycling and ecosystem services (Garcia et al. 2021). In the same way, Charlón et al. (2014) stated that increment in the BNF contributes to a farm system being more autonomous to external nutrients inputs and reduce the environmental impact associated.

Regarding land management, some practices are correlated to reduce erosion and conserve the soil structure (Prieto and Osorio 2019). Overall, it is associated with maintaining vegetative cover, buffer zones, reducing tillage, cultivating along the level lines, and correct irrigation management. Similarly, Castagno (2020) demonstrated that higher percentages of soil covered were associated with lower nutrients in runoff water.

Aubriot et al. (2017) claim that to reduce the nutrient losses to waterways is necessary to create buffer zones. To be more precise, according to Lescano et al. 2017, the buffer zones are strip areas between water bodies and crops or livestock production systems that preserve the water quality and diminish nutrient exportation.

According to Lemaire et al. (2015), integrating grass and crops is suitable for improving diversity. In that way, the grassland-cropping rotation results in bigger carbon sequestration and reduction of N emissions, being grasslands essential to minimizing environmental impacts (Lemaire et al. 2015). Furthermore, it is reported an increment in soil organic matter and nutrient retention. Also, the increase of permanent grasslands contributes to reducing nutrient exports as well as maintaining ecosystem services. Similarly, Fariña and Chilibroste (2019) state that the use of permanent or long-term pastures instead of annual crops can decrease the biosphere integrity losses in areas where pastures dominated the original landscape.

2.5.2. Type of animal's diet

Darre et al. (2021) mention that the type of cow's diet is determinant in the dairy farm environmental impacts. This means that the diet proportion of pasture versus concentrates influence the farm nutrient losses.

According to Ryan et al. (2011), the more kilograms of concentrates in the diet, the higher N is available for leaching. In the same way, Tayyab and McLean (2015) state that precise feeding is a valuable strategy to reduce P losses.

Arriaga et al. (2009) conclude that matching nutrients ingestion and requirements is a convenient strategy to decrease N and P excretion in dairy farms. Also, it is possible to optimize supplying

feed that contains highly assimilable phosphorus and decrease the P of the excreta (Fernández-Marcos 2011). Similarly, dietary manipulation through the accurate protein intake to animal requirements can reduce N excretion. The increment in NUE and phosphorous use efficiency (PUE) in milk can lead to reductions in N and P excretion (Arriaga et al. 2009).

2.5.3. Stocking rate

The stocking rate influences the farm system performance, not only for the production but also for the environment (Fariña and Chilibroste 2019).

The cow excretion on the paddock can be related to the nutrient losses to the environment. In that way, the lower stocking rate generates lower excreta, which could represent a reduction in environmental nutrient losses (Fernández-Marcos 2011; Arriaga et al. 2009). The excretions deposited in a particular farm area is correlated with the time spent there. Because of that, managing cows' spatial and time distribution is essential to avoid nutrient surpluses in areas where plants cannot use them or be collected for paddock distribution (Gutiérrez et al., 2009).

According to Chilibrostre and Fariña 2019, Uruguay has a lower stocking rate than other countries, implying a lower load of fertilisers and excreta per hectare. It means that the risk of nutrient exportation to waterways is lower. However, it is essential to efficiently distribute the excreted nutrients to avoid losses outside the farm (Klootwijk et al., 2016).

In Castagna (2020), this research's evaluation at the stocking rate levels does not affect diffuse contamination of surface waters since there were no differences in the concentration of nutrients observed in the water runoff.

2.5.4. Synthetic fertilizer and effluent management

Synthetic fertilizer - According to FAO (2018a), it is recommended to make a fertilization programme based on the chemical analysis of soils and the plant's nutritional requirements. Moreover, it is recommended to incorporate the fertilizer into the soil, avoiding the application on the surface to reduce the P stratification in the first ground layers (Fernández-Marcos 2011). Also is recommended the use of $PO_{4^{3-}}$ fertilizers of slow or controlled release and control the excessive fertilization (Kleinman et al. 2015; De Lucca 2020). Besides, in regions where the rainfall has a specific period, it is possible to space a time between the precipitation and fertilizer application. In the case of Uruguay, where the precipitation occurs unpredictably throughout the year is not possible to plan precisely this time (De Lucca 2020).

In Uruguayan research, De Lucca (2020) demonstrated that while the non-fertilizer treatment had a lower losses level of total P, the fertilizer treatment exceeded the USA limit (5 kg total P ha-1 year-1). On the other hand, the soluble limit was exceeded in all treatments, including the nonapplication (1 kg soluble P ha-1 year-1). That high P exportation suggests that these farms are partly responsible for the eutrophication problems registered in the Santa Lucia River Basin (Barreto et al. 2017; De Lucca 2020).

Dairy farm effluents - It has been reported that the correct effluents and manure management is fundamental to utilize it as an organic fertilizer and avoid a risk of contamination of the soil, surface, and groundwater (Dairy NZ 2015; Tayyab & McLean 2015; INALE 2019).

INALE (2019) states the necessity of evaluating the effluent, volume, nutrient levels and characteristics. Also, it is needed to define a minimum area of application, considering the current

levels of phosphorus and N in the soil, the requirements of the planned crops, the contribution by biological fixation, and contribution by inorganic fertilization and manure in the case of potential fields to be grazed (INALE 2019). Likewise, the application rate must not exceed the soil infiltration rate. This principle allows minimizing the risk of soil erosion due to drainage and surface runoff, both due to particle and nutrient carry-over (INALE 2019). In the same way, according to Senattore and Russo (2019), the average rainfall in the area and the soil capacity determine the possibility of irrigating and the dimension of the effluent pool needed.

According to INALE (2019), the criteria to select an area to apply effluents involve soil analysis Bray I phosphorus less than 31 ppm, the critical value established by MVOTMA (2013) as a maximum limit above which no there is a response to phosphorus fertilization. Besides, it is necessary to consider minimum distances watercourses, water extraction wells, bordering farms, and excluding prepartum cows and categories under one year.

There is needed adequate waterproofing of the lagoon to avoid the effluent infiltration to groundwater. Also, it is required to design the lagoon dimension in concordance to the farm effluent generation and the possibilities to apply the effluent to soil (INALE 2018).

Besides, it is recommended to incorporate manure or effluent in the soil instead of applying it to the surface. Also, using the waste at the right moment is suggested to avoid a runoff, such as when the soil humidity is adequate or when the probability of rain is low (Fernández-Marcos 2011).

Exist different effluents management systems depend on the particularities of the dairy farm (Senattore & Russo 2019). There are diverse ways of solid separation, accumulation, and distribution of the effluent. These different systems contribute to the diversity of effluents between

dairy farms. In general terms, the main characteristics of the dairy farm effluents are high content of organic matter and high concentrations of nutrients such as N and P (INALE 2019).

In Uruguay, there has been a change in conception in the management of dairy effluents. While in the past century was a promotion of biological treatment and disposal to a watercourse, nowadays it is promoted to storage in a lagoon and applied to the land as organic fertilizer (Senattore & Russo 2019). There is proved that the biological treatment is not sufficient to lower the organic matter and nutrients that provoke water pollution (Senattore & Russo 2019). In the same way, Aubriot et al. (2017) state that to improve the efficiency in the use of nutrients is required the use of dairy effluents as organic fertilizer. Because of that, the new tendency can be named nutrients circular economy or nutrients circularity. The following figure represents the nutrient's circularity process.



Figure 13. Nutrient's circularity.

Source: elaborated by the author.

2.6. Nutrient Budgeting Approach

Turning now to the research evidence on evaluating the farm nutrient efficiency, Gourley et al. (2007, p. 1065) define the nutrient budget 'as an accounting approach for nutrient inputs, stores and outputs'. In the same way, Cherry et al. (2008) describe the nutrient budgeting as a valuable and straightforward tool to data generation, analysis and evaluation of farm inputs and outputs. According to Eurostat (2011), the N and P budgets offer holistic indicators of the environmental pressure of agriculture. It is essential however to distinguish between nutrient balances and nutrient budgets. While the balance only calculates the difference between the input and output of a nutrient, the budget partitioned the balance between loss pathways (Eurostat 2011).

Surprisingly, there are differences between Gourley et al. (2007) and Cherry et al. (2008) about the tool's suitability. While the first one states that nutrient budgets are equally helpful in estimating N and P environmental losses, the second research argues that it is more beneficial to N due to the nutrient's soil dynamics.

According to Cherry et al. (2008) these evaluations do not consider mitigation's timing and transport characteristics and assume a direct causal relationship between potential and actual nutrient loss. This issue is associated with the data required and the uncertainties and assumptions.

Gourley et al. (2007) distinguish three levels of approaches to nutrients budgets depending on 'the intended purpose of the study, which should also define the scale, the required accuracy, the data required, and the data collection strategy'. These kinds of budgets are described in the following figure, farm-gate, field, and farm-system level.



Figure 14. Dairy farm nutrient budgets: farm-gate (a), field (b) and farm-system (c).

Source: Gourley et al. (2007 p. 1066).

According to Gourley et al. (2007), the farm-gate budgets are the most common because they are easier to calculate from available farmer data and accurate sources. Although the farm gate nutrient budget can identify a nutrient surplus or a deficit, it does not include the nutrients circulation across the farm and internal transformations ´which may be contributing to nutrient use inefficiency and adverse environmental outcomes´ (Gourley et al. 2007, p. 1068). Another option, field budgets, are used to estimate the soil's net loading with nutrients and assist in comprehending the nutrient distribution patterns within the farm. In contrast, the farm system budget level analyses the internal

transformations and nutrients dynamics to evaluate the whole system's efficiency, as represented in the figure 14.

Several investigations, such as Carbó (2011) and Gourley et al. (2012), said that this tool is beneficial to adjust the agriculture management practices reducing nutrient losses to the environment and improving the economic margins. Apart from supporting nutrient management decisions, the budgets can be helpful to research and as a regulatory tool (Gourley et al. 2007).

The following figure describes the primary N and P inputs and outputs in the agroecosystems.



Figure 15. Diagram of N and P inputs and outputs in agroecosystems.

Source: Becoña et al. (2020, p.8).

In the case of N, the main entrance of this nutrient to the agroecosystem is N mineral fertiliser, fixation of atmospheric N by legumes and soil bacteria, deposition from the atmosphere and

livestock feed. Apart from that, there are minor inputs such as animal bedding and seeds (Eurostat 2011).

N is detained in animal products, milk and meat, crop products, and exported manure (Eurostat 2011). Furthermore, the N outputs are the losses to the environment by volatilisation, denitrification, and lixiviation. According to Eurostat (2011), gaseous losses occur from effluent and manure management and paddock management. Furthermore, the ground and surface water losses occur via leaching or runoff and 'on poorly managed farms, nitrogen can also be lost in runoff from animal housing, animal holding areas and manure storage' (Eurostat 2011, p. 32).

In reference to P, the central system inputs are the mineral fertiliser and the livestock feed. Like N, the P outputs can be divided into animal products, crop products and environmental losses (Eurostat 2011). The nutrient losses to the environment can be separated into punctual and diffuse losses. While punctual refers to the loss from the effluent management system, diffuse refers to the paddock losses (Perdomo et al. 2015).

Numerous worldly investigations developed nutrient budgets in dairy farms (Gourley et al. 2007). A recent Uruguayan experience in effluent management evaluation incorporates the nutrient budget approach for five institutional dairy farms, including universities and research institutions (Biovalor 2018; Rodriguez 2021). This thesis complements the previous research, evaluating the farm-system nutrient budget in a familiar case study farm.

2.7. Modelling Approach

Suitable models can describe agroecosystems, answer questions, and solve problems (Railsback and Grimm 2019). Moreover, agricultural modelling permits the characterisation and quantification of nutrient transformation, transport, and retention (Cherry et al. 2008).

According to Muller (2017), with modelling is possible to analyse how a system change. For example, how the reduction of nutrient loss impacts the rest of the system. Furthermore, Jackson (2011), as mentioned, considers that once the model is built, it is possible to explore how the system behaves without taking any action that may negatively impact the system itself.

According to Railsback and Grimm 2019, *Agent-Based Modelling (ABM)* is a convenient tool to find solutions to issues related to the environment. As is described by these authors, ABM is appropriate to be used 'in systems composed of autonomous 'agents' that interact with each other and their environment, differ from each other over space and time' (Railsback and Grimm 2019, p.4). This modelling approach allows the evaluation of the complex agroecosystem possibilities and their heterogeneity between individuals. Moreover, ABM enables the modelling of different management practices spatially in space and time. The ABM system's approach is convenient for modelling agriculture nutrient pollution because it is a complex issue involving many agents.

While traditional models describe and represent the whole system, ABM represents the system's agents. This difference allows ABM to tackle issues that other models cannot (Railsback and Grimm 2019). Similarly, Grimm et al. (2010) state that ABM is opportune to explain system performance because it embraces agents' interactions and adaptative behaviour.

Another advantage of ABM is that it permits rapid evaluations of diverse possibilities to gain decision making time (Cherry et al. 2008). In contrast to that benefit, Railsback and Grimm (2019) state that this multilevel model required advanced management skills.

In the Uruguayan context, there is only an example of ABM development. The so-called 'Sequia Basalto' model is an ABM of livestock producers facing drought conditions (Bartaburu et al. 2011). The development of this ABM involved stakeholders in co-designing it, including the farmers and technicians. This approach contributed to the understanding and communicating the drought situation and improving the adaptive capacity of Basalt Uruguayan cattle farmers (Bommel et al. 2014).

There exist many programmable platforms for developing agent-based models, and one of the most used is NetLogo. It was written by Uri Wilensky in 1999 and has been in constant development ever since at the Center for Connected Learning and Computer-Based Modelling (NorthWestern 2021). NetLogo is a programmable modelling environment for simulating natural and social phenomena. It is hence especially suitable for modelling complex systems that develop over space and time. The modellers can instruct hundreds or thousands of 'agents' operating independently. NetLogo allows exploring the connection between the micro-level individual behaviour and the macro-level patterns that occur from their interaction (NorthWestern 2021).

2.7.1. ODD protocol

According to Grimm et al. 2010, the 'ODD' (Overview, Design concepts, and Details) protocol aims to standardize the descriptions of agent-based models.

ODD permits reading and writing ABM descriptions quickly and enable no technicians to model replication (Grimm et al. 2020). This protocol of descriptions is based on written text and can involve equations and brief algorithms.

The ODD protocol is structured in seven elements that must be used as given with the numbering. These elements are alienated into three categories as a protocol order, but the categories are not used in the model descriptions. The categories 'Overview', 'Design concepts', and 'Details' (acronym ODD) explain the ODD structure. Each of them has a different purpose, 'giving an overview, explaining how design concepts important for ABMs were used, and explaining all the details of the 'machinery' of the model' (Grimm et al. 2020 p. 2). Also, the protocol includes eleven design concepts that can be added for the description if necessary. The ODD protocol structure is represented in the following figure.



Figure 16. Structure of model descriptions using the ODD protocol.

Source: Grimm et al. (2020, p.2).

In section 3.4. it is presented a summary ODD protocol of the ABM developed for the thesis' research.

CHAPTER 3: METHODOLOGY

Chapter 3 focuses on the description of the methodology and the key methods used in this thesis. Firstly, the research methodology that guides the thesis is outlined. This is followed by an explanation of the case study and, finally, by the explanation of how the nutrient's budgets and the agent-based model (NPM) are developed.

3.1. Research Methodology

The research methodology is a multimethodological approach, which means using a combination of methodologies and methods together in the same systemic intervention – see Section 2.2 (Sposito 2021). This multimethodology was created following the basis of the 'Rational Holistic Planning and Decision-Making Model' formulated by Sposito (2020a) and incorporating some steps of the 'Framework for exploring futures through collective learning' formulated by Wedderburn et al. (2013).

The research methodology provides a framework that involves several suitable methods to understand the influence of dairy farm management practices in the N and P dynamics and their influence on the environment.

The multimethodology proposed comprises the six stages of Sposito's model: (1) Problem formulation, (2) Situation and diagnosis, (3) Solution, (4) Decision-taking, (5) Implementation, and (6) Monitoring. In addition, the multimethodology incorporates the substages (2A) System representation and behaviour, (3B) Evaluation of system performance, and (3C) Evaluation of

strategies-scenarios and decisions of Wedderburn et al. (2013) framework. The research methodology is depicted in Figure 17.



Figure 17. Research multimethodology.

Source: elaborated by the author. Adapted from Sposito (2020a) and Wedderburn et al. (2013).

The process is cyclical, interactive, and tiered. Furthermore, the process is divided into three distinctive parts, decision-making, decision-taking, and implementation, as represented in the figure 17. *It is essential to state that this thesis encompasses only the decision-making part due to the scope of the research. This means that the research includes only Stages 1, 2 and 3*.

In the present research, the methodology is applied to the farm level of analysis but it can be used at a regional level. The model represents the farmer responsibility in the decision-making process, as they role in the farm management decision. The farmer inclusion depicted as a component inside the system of concern is named in the planning field as 'collaborative or participatory planning' (Healey 2006 cited in Sposito 2020a). Similarly, the concept of *collective learning* proposed in Wedderburn et al. (2013) is included in the methodology. This collective learning process can modify the farmer's decisions on management and contribute to sustainable production. In this research, collective learning consists of communication with the farm case study and the farmer's group (see section 3.2.). Two communication forms were carried out with the farmer (see Appendix A.3.). The learning communication with the group of farmers consisted of one virtual meeting and a meeting in the field to show the thesis results (see appendix A.3.).

The multi-methodological approach is appropriate for dealing with complex, uncertain and risk problems because it is based on the 'combinations of methodologies (possibly from different paradigms) and methods together in a single intervention' (Jackson 2019). In that way, the research methodology includes several methods in the different stages, as is represented in figure 18.

STEPS	SUBSTEPS	METHODS
1. Problem formulation	1. Aims, goals, and	1. Rich Picture
	objectives	
2. Situation and Diagnosis	2. System representation	2. Social-ecological
	and behaviour	framework, Data analysis,
		GIS, Nutrient budgets,
		Agent-based model
3. Solution	3. Evaluation of system	3. Nutrient budgets, Agent-
	performance, strategies,	based model
	and scenarios	

Figure 18. Research Stages and Methods.

Source: elaborated by the author, adapted from Sposito (2020a).

The focus of the research, as was explained, is in the decision-making stages. In the first stage of the multimethodological approach, the *'problem formulation'*, the method selected is a rich picture. It is a soft system method representing the system of concern, including the different components, actors, relations, and issues (Checkland and Poulter 2006, see section 2.2.). That system representation has an emphasis on dairy farm nutrient problems and management strategies.

Regarding the second stage, *'situation and diagnosis'*, a social-ecological dairy farm framework and data collection analysis is required to understand the farm system's situation. The data collection is based on the productive registers provided by the farmer of the case study. Also, that stage includes developing nutrient budgets (see section 2.6) and modelling through an agent-based model (see section 2.7). Also, the method Geographic Information System (GIS) is necessary to include the geographic features of the farm in the modelling. The system representation allows the evaluation of the system performance.

Apart from that, the third stage, *'solution'*, involves the nutrient budget and the agent-based model to evaluate strategies and scenarios to improve the system performance.

3.2. Case Study

3.2.1. Uruguayan dairy farm context

This section describes the Uruguayan dairy farm sector to understand the case study.

Uruguay is located in South America between Argentina and Brazil, and their extension is 176.000 km2, where approximately 160.000 km2 are potential agricultural soils (INE 2011). Because of

that, the Uruguayan economy is based on agriculture, and dairy production is one of the most critical activities because of the income generated and the labour involved (INALE 2021).



Figure 19. Map of Uruguay in South America.

Source: elaborated by the author, adapted from Google Maps (2021).

According to INALE (2021), the Uruguayan dairy sector involves 3,300 dairy farmers and produces 2,200 million litres of milk annually; 73% of the farms remit milk to the processing industry, and 23% are cheese producers. While 30% of industrialized dairy is for the internal market, 70% is destined for export, being Uruguay the seventh-largest milk exporter in the world (INALE 2021).

As shown in the following figure, the dairy farms are concentrated in the south and southwest of Uruguay, particularly in the Santa Lucia River Basin.



Figure 20. Percentage of dairy farm per area of evaluation.

Source: adapted from MGAP 2015.

The Uruguayan dairy system is characterized by a pastoral-based diet, with grass and legume pastures as the main component of the diet (Darré et al. 2021). Furthermore, according to Fariña and Chilibroste (2019), the average Uruguayan diet of the dairy cows is 9.5, 3.1, and 4.2 DM/cow/day of pasture grazed, silage, and concentrate. Although dairy production is chiefly based on pastures, the average dairy system has a medium level of supplementation in silage and grains because of the seasonality of grasslands (Fariña and Chilibroste 2019).

The Uruguayan National Dairy Institute (INALE) has conducted a national survey on dairy farms. The survey was designed to sample a stratified subset of the Uruguayan dairy farms, and the results are summarized in a typology of dairy farms. The dairy farm's typology criteria are based on milk production and milk productivity/forage consumption. The typology is divided into seven groups, as is represented in the following figure.

Production category	Milk production (I year ⁻¹)	Productivity or forage consumption	Group
Low (L)	<158,000	-	L
Medium-Low (ML)	158,000-494,000	Milk productivity <3800 l ha ⁻¹	ML1
		Milk productivity >3800 l ha ⁻¹	ML2
Medium-High (MH)	494,000-1,030,000	Milk productivity <4600 l ha ⁻¹	MH1
		Milk productivity >4600 l ha ⁻¹	MH2
High (H)	>1,030,000	Forage consumption <3000 kg DM ha ⁻¹	H1
		Forage consumption >3000 kg DM ha ⁻¹	H2

Table 2. Uruguayan Dairy farms typology INALE.

Source: adapted from Darré et al. (2021).

According to MGAP (2013), milk production has incremented by more than 250% since 1980. This production intensification is associated with greater use of external subsidies to the system, such as concentrates and chemical fertilisers, which increased the tension with the environment (Darré et al. 2021). Because of that tension, the Uruguayan government made public strategies to promote management practices to reduce the environmental impacts (MVOTMA, 2013; MVOTMA 2018). One of these strategies is associated with improving farm infrastructure to effluents management (MGAP 2020).

Because of the importance of dairy production in Uruguay, it is essential to evaluate the farm performance and analyse their management practices to improve nutrient efficiency and decrease the environmental impacts.

3.2.2. Main of Characteristics of the Case Study Farm

The focus of the case study is a real Uruguayan dairy farm. The selected farm has registers of management and productivity that enabled to undertake a sound analysis. The database analysis was complemented with interviews and farm's visits to gather further required information. The study of both the database registers and the information gathering was finally carried out.

The farm is located in the southern limit of the department of Soriano, Uruguay. As explained above, the southwest of Uruguay is a historic dairy farm region (see Figure 20). This means that the focus farm is situated in a Uruguayan representative dairy region. The farm location is shown in the following figure.



Figure 21. Farm location.

Source: elaborated by the author, adapted from Google maps (2021).

This dairy farm has produced artisan cheese since 1973 during several family generations. Since commencement, they have increased the area, the number of cows and the volume of production. The family comprises five members who all participate in farm and cheese production. In addition to the family's workers, there are 13 workers involved in dairy farm and cheese production.

The 2020 case study summary is represented in the following table.

	Case study (2020)
Milking and Dry cows (VM)	343
Milking cows (VO)	283
VO / VM ratio	0.83
Hectare VM	214
Total area (ha)	260.5
Property (%)	46
Stocking rate (VM/ha VM)	1.6
Animal productivity (l/VO/day)	23.4
Land productivity (1/ha VM)	11439
Milk production (l/year)	2447875
Milk production (l/day)	6707
Pasture intake (Kg DM/ha VM)	4452
Silage intake (Kg DM/ha VM)	1858
Concentrate intake (Kg DM/ha VM)	3279
Pasture intake (Kg DM/VO/day)	9.1
Silage intake (Kg DM/VO/day)	3.9
Concentrate intake (Kg DM/VO/day)	6.7
Total intake (kg DM/VO/day)	19.7
% Pasture	46%
% Silage	20%
% Concentrate	34%

Table 3. Case study summary.

Source: elaborated by the author.

The farm under study can be considered a typical Uruguayan dairy farm because it is characterized by a pastoral-based diet, with grass and legume pastures as the main component of the diet (Darré et al. 2021). It is situated in the Uruguayan typology groups with higher milk productivity and is on a medium scale referring to the area (see the previous subsection). It also has a high stocking rate compared with the national average (see Appendix A.6.)

The farm has an extension of 260.5 hectares divided into two distinct areas that are in turn subdivided into paddocks. The area used by the dairy cows is named 'Tambo' and has 126 hectares. The other area is composed of four sectors used by the rest of the animals and has 134.5 hectares (called 'rest of the area'). It is worth mentioning that parts of the feed reserves (meadow bales) and concentrate (wet corn grain silo) are produced in the 'rest of the area'. Because of that, those feed reserves are considered inputs to the studied and modelled system. The 'Tambo' area and their paddocks are represented in the following figure.



Figure 22. 'Tambo' area and their paddocks.

Source: elaborated by the author, adapted from Google earth (2021).

The total farm paddocks are described in the figure 23. It includes the 'Tambo' paddocks and the 'rest of the area' paddocks (named 'Guigou, Manera, El Rancho and La Conquista').



Figure 23. Total farm paddocks, 'Tambo' and 'rest of the area' paddocks. Source: elaborated by the author, adapted from farm registers.

The focus farm under study is part of a local group of 30 dairy farms located in the Departments of Colonia and Soriano, where the dairy industry is central. The 30 farms are primarily artisan cheese producers, and the group is coordinated by an agronomist, a veterinarian, and a sociologist. This point is essential because this thesis's development includes communication with the farmer group to support peer learning (see Section 3.1.).

The information resulted from the analysis was used to develop the nitrogen and phosphorus budgets and the 'NPM' Agent-based model presented in Chapter 4. As mentioned, the nutrients budgets are a decision support instrument for evaluating farm management practices and their impact on the environment. The 'NPM' agent-based model development supports the analysis and evaluation of possible management scenarios.

3.3. Nutrients Budgets

This section describes the *Nutrient Budget Method* developed in this research. Its application includes two nutrients' budgets, one destined to 'Tambo' paddocks and the other to the whole farm. In both areas, budgets of nitrogen (N) and phosphorous (P) are also developed.

As was defined in the literature review, the nutrient budget is a tool that permits adjusting agriculture management practices to reduce nutrients losses to the environment and improve farm nutrient efficiency (see Section 2.6). The nutrient budget diagram representing the inputs and outputs of the dairy farm of the research is illustrated in the following figure.



Figure 24. Nutrient budget dairy farm.

Source: elaborated by the author.

According to Eurostat (2011), there is no international legal framework for N and P budgets compared to greenhouse gas emissions that IPCC has promoted. As a result, there is no established

international standard terminology or methodology for nutrient budget development. Because of that, many authors refer to the same terms differently.

The main inputs, outputs and terms used on the nutrient budget developed in the present research are summarized in the table below.

Category		
Inputs		
Mineral Fertilizer (N, P)		
Imported livestock Feed (N, P)		
Biological N Fixation (N)		
Atmospheric deposition (N)		
Outputs		
Milk (N, P)		
Meat (N, P)		
Environment (N)		
Effluent and Manure management		
N ₂ O Direct		
Volatilization		
Leaching		
Paddock		
N ₂ O Direct		
Volatilization		
Leaching		
Environment (P)		
Effluent and Manure management		
Leaching		
Paddock		
Particulate P		
Soluble P		

Table 4. Summary of farm inputs and outputs.

Source: elaborated by the author.

As a difference to the 'Tambo' budget, the whole farm budget considers all the animal categories and the values of the entire farm variables. It means that the whole farm nutrients budget evaluates all the components of the entire system (to understand the differences between both kinds of budgets, see Appendix A.4.).

The nutrients budgets for the year 2020 are generated using the farm's records and bibliographic review. From other research works, assumptions are made to estimate the data needed to calculate the budget variables. The data, assumptions and terminology used in the study are presented in appendices (see Appendix A.4.).

The nutrient budget emphasises understanding the nutrients environmental outputs and partitioning the different losses pathways (see section 2.6.).

3.4. NPM Agent-based Model

This section describes the Nitrogen Phosphorus Management (NPM) multi-agent model jointly developed with Professor Francisco Dieguez (UDELAR Veterinary Faculty). This model evaluates the management practices and spatialization of nutrients in dairy farms. The summary description of the model is guided by the ODD protocol, explained in Section 2.7 of the Literature

The agent-based model simulation model was developed on the NetLogo platform version 6.2 (NorthWestern 2021). NetLogo is a multi-agent programmable modelling environment suitable for modelling complex systems (see Section 2.7.).

The development of the model was based on the register's records provided by the case study dairy farmer and from a literature review. Model development includes the farmer' registers and monitoring for 2020, which included (on a monthly scale): the number of animals, composition and milk production, diet profile (pastures, reserves, and concentrates) and land use. As was

mentioned previously, some parts of the feed reserves (meadow bales) and concentrate (wet corn grain silo) are produced in the same farm, but in another fraction of the establishment, so they are considered inputs to the studied and modelled system. The central dynamics in the ABM has carried out a daily step (see Appendix A.4. and A.5.).

The dynamic assigning the animals to the pasture (set of patches) with the highest biomass, keeping them in that pasture until a remanent of 1500 kg DM/ha. The animals consume the DM of each diet component according to the monthly diet profile provided by the farmer. This diet has its corresponding protein and P proportion and excretes N and P at each step (considering a similar ratio to the time spent in the dairy parlour and on the paddock, 4/24 hours, and 20/24 hours, respectively). The ABM model calculates the N and P budget for each patch. Also, the different pastures have an individual growth rate and protein and P values (see Appendix A.4.). The farmer provided the soil P content by soil analysis information. The following figure summarizes the NPM model process.



Figure 25. NPM Model process.

Source: elaborated by the author, adapted from Grimm et al. (2020).
3.4.1. Purpose

The overall *purpose* of the NPM model is to evaluate dairy farm management practices that influence N and P dynamics. NPM model simulates how the farmer management decisions affect the whole farm system nutrients dynamics. Specifically, the model addresses the following questions:

- According to farming practices in the case study: which is the spatial and temporal pattern of nutrients at the modelled system?
- Which is the contribution of each nutrient budget component (excreta, paddock environmental losses, effluent environmental losses, and biological N fixation) to whole system results?

3.4.2. Entities and states variables

The model includes the following *entities*: Patch, Cow, Effluent Management System. The *Entities* and *States Variables* of NPM are described in appendixes (see Section A.5.). The *spatial* and *temporal* resolution and extent: a time step in the model represents one day, and the simulation can be for the year of evaluation. NPM model is spatially explicit and represents the area of the dairy farm case study.

Simulations are based on 13 paddocks with different extents each, representing a total area of 126 hectares. The landscape or world is a grid of 50 x 20 patches with 2600 m2 each, but only 846 patches represent the 'Tambo' area, according to GIS information provided by the farmer.

3.4.3. Process overview and scheduling

The core *process* of the NPM model is the nutrient budget in each patch. This process is repeated every time step and is based on these other processes: pastures growth, nutrients dynamics and presence and permanence of cow in the patch. It is important to highlight that the NPM model represents the scale of colours according to the variable value of each patch. Also, the interface represents the patches average variable value of the same paddock.

Scheduling is very significant in the NPM model because it represents the farmer management. The scheduling refers to number of dairy cows, milk production and composition, dairy cows' diet, fertilizer application and pasture growth rate.

3.4.4. Design concepts

The most important *design concepts* of the model are:

- Objective: the design model objective is to represent the farm case study, using GIS and land use information.
- Observation: The number of cows, the animal diets levels, the cow's production, and the total amount of biomass in each paddock are recorded daily.

• Communication: The main communication variables are represented in the model interface. Its interface includes the use of 'on/off switch' from each nutrient budget component, the NUE and PUE graphs, and the dynamics of the N and P separately in paddock and effluent management system. The interface represents in a colour scale the values of the main variables of N and P dynamics. These specific design aspects are to facilitate collective learning and communication between farmers, researchers, and other actors.

• Interaction: there exist three kinds of interactions; cow-patch and cow-system management effluent.

• Stochasticity: by default, there is nothing Stochasticity. When initializing, there are variables generated with random values like initial DM availability of paddocks.

• Adaptation: Cows react to decreasing pasture biomass levels in paddocks by being less attracted to them, and after a limit level, they move to another paddock with more biomass.

3.4.5. Initialization

The NPM model is initialised with the information provided by the farm, like the land use and the number of dairy cows (see appendix A.4.). Also, it is essential to highlight that the GIS is included in the initialisation. Furthermore, the simulations were set to start on 1st of March.

3.4.6. Input data

Model dynamics are driven by *input data* representing data from different sources, including extensive literature review and data from the farm case study. The data from the model development is described in appendices (see Appendix A.4.).

3.5. Farm Management Scenarios

The research formulated four farm management scenarios to evaluate possible solutions to the problem situation with the nutrient budget method. These scenarios intent to answer the following questions:

- Which is the impact of the different dairy farm management practices on the nutrient dynamics?
- Which are the dairy farm management practices that reduce nutrient losses to the environment?

The management scenarios evaluated in the research are specified in the following table. Each scenario is compared with the current situation of the dairy farm case study.

Management	Scenario	Note
1)Land use: BNF	BNF drops 20% compared	17 hectares of Leguminosae area is replaced by Festuca,
	to the current situation	and the Festuca is fertilized with the farmer criteria
2)Dairy cows feed	Pasture: 56%	10% increment on pasture intake
	Silage: 20%	Same silage intake
	Concentrate: 24%	10% decrease in concentrate intake
3)Stocking rate	Number of dairy cows	Assumption: Reduces to 80% the milk production and total
	drops 20%	dairy cows feed compared to the current situation
4)Effluent	Organic fertilization	The effluent is used as fertilizer in the rest of the area, not
		in the 'Tambo' paddocks.

 Table 5. Scenarios evaluated

Source: elaborated by the author

For understanding internal changes in the nutrient budget for each scenario, refer to Appendix A.4.

CHAPTER 4: RESULTS

Chapter 4 presents the results of the research through the application of the methods included in the methodology. Stage 1 of the methodology, *problem formulation* is carried our using a *Rich Picture* method. Results of the Stage 2, *situation and diagnosis* are described through a social-ecological dairy farm framework, the nutrients budgets, and the agent-based model. Finally, the analysis of management scenarios is presented as a guide to possible *solutions* (Stage 3) to the formulated problem. The results presented in this chapter are discussed in the subsequent chapter, *Discussion*.

4.1. Stage 1 - Problem Formulation

The problem formulation is conducted via the *Rich Picture* (RP) method (see Section 2.2.). According to Checkland and Poulter (2006), the 'RP method is most appropriate to capture the components and complex relationships of the system of interest. The RP in the following figure is thus very useful for comprehending and analysing the dairy farm process, its relationship with the N and P cycles and their negative impacts on the environment. The RP represents the components of the dairy farm system, their interactions, farmers, and the negative externalities to the environment as one of the significant system issues.



Figure 26. Rich Picture of a Dairy Farm.

Source: elaborated by author, adapted from The Dairy Alliance (2021).

It is essential to highlight that the farmers are represented as the main actors of the dairy farm because of their role in the overall system management. The environmental impacts are divided into air emissions and the nutrients losses to soil and water. The water pollution is not only to the stream but also to the aquifer under the surface. The management practices are included in the rich picture; for example, the rich picture represents the utilization of manure and effluent to fertilize the crops or the importance of pasture in cows' diet apart from concentrates or silage.

4.2. Stage 2 - Situation and Diagnosis

The results related to the situation and diagnosis are described through a social-ecological dairy farm framework, nutrient budgets, and an agent-based model. It is important to mention that the results of the nutrient budgets and the agent-based model are related to the area grassed by the dairy cows ('Tambo' paddocks). As was explained in Section 3.2., the significant nutrient losses occur in 'Tambo' paddocks because of the higher intensive use. Nevertheless, the results also include the nutrient budgets for the total dairy farm area in order to understand the whole farm system.

4.2.1. Social-ecological dairy farm framework

It is essential to define the scale to be evaluated since dairy farm systems have significant heterogeneity in size, land tenure, social, productive, and economic reality (see section 3.2.). Likewise, the analysis must be functional at this scale. As mentioned, the present research is focused on a Uruguayan medium scale dairy system.

Dairy farms are complex socio-ecological systems due to the interactions between social, biophysical, climatic, edaphic and management components (Stirling et al. 2021). Similarly, Wedderburn et al. (2013) argue that pastoral-based dairy and livestock systems depend on the feedback between producer's behaviour, natural resources, and biological cycles to generate a series of services necessary for human well-being as well as maintain the integrity of the ecosystem.

The diagnosis of the system (human, productive and natural capital) is an essential starting point to preserve the desired responses and ascertain the proposed transformations. Furthermore, for the

dairy farm analysis, it is necessary to consider all the elements that influence the behaviour and decision-making of the producers. The following figure outlines the dynamics of the system, which will be described in the following sub-sections.



Figure 27. System Dynamic.

Source: elaborated by the author, adapted from Chapin et al. (2009).

According to Mazzeo et al. (2017a), *resilient thinking* intends to understand the mechanisms that ensure the system's resilience in facing external pressures and internal dynamics changes. Furthermore, resilience comprises three characteristics: the amount of change that a system can assimilate to maintain its function and structure, its capacity for self-organisation, and learning and adaptation. In that sense, 'resilience is the property of the system and persistence or probability of extinction is the result' (Holling 1973/2010R cited by Sposito 2020b). **Internal factors to maintain -** The system with the current configuration presents certain internal factors that are considered significant strengths to be maintained and enhanced. These factors, or aspects, can be classified into *human capital, productive capital, and natural capital and ecosystem services*.

Firstly, referring to *human capital*, the system under study is based on family production (see Section 3.2.). This means that part of the workforce comes from the family nucleus of the farm. The farm family's human capital is essential because the dairy system's experiences and knowledge are transmitted from generation to generation over the years, such as the care of the soil and productive and cultural practices. One example of this transmission of experience is the production of Colonia's cheese (denomination of origin). This type of cheese is original from Uruguay and was produced since the late nineteenth century, maintaining and enhancing the local and artisan cheese (Canaparo et al. 2019). Another internal factor to preserve is the organisation of producers; for example, in the form of cooperatives, groups or societies of milk producers. This type of organisations is clearly a strength in the sense of enabling continuous learning and adaptation to external factors and shocks (for example, changes in the costs of inputs). In addition, it is essential to maintain young people in the sector due to is a critical social aspect associated with the future generation of farmers.

Secondly, maintaining factors associated with *productive capital* refer to the specific characteristics of dairy cattle, their genetics developed over the years and their adaptation to the environment. Other aspects to maintain, the management experience on livestock and pastures, responding to the production of food such as milk and meat.

66

Finally, the *natural capital* internal factor identifies the general Uruguayan dairy as a pastoralbased production. This is considered an advantage in terms of sustainability and animal welfare over other forms of grain-based dairy production where cows tend to remain locked up throughout the day. This internal factor is a window of opportunity that grants diversity and redundancy to the dairy system, betting on a quality dairy product that stands out in international markets. Another factor in maintaining and promoting is the caring for the biodiversity of the fauna and flora of the natural fields and meadows. It is also essential to maintain these internal factors that promote regulatory ecosystem services, such as water purification and carbon sequestration.

External factors - drivers of change - Farmers are also conditioned by external factors, which can be considered as pressures for the socio-ecological dairy farm system. The following figure represents the direct and indirect external factors that can impact dairy farmers.



Figure 28. Dairy farm and drivers of change.

Source: elaborated by the author.

Firstly, the economic space is represented by the pressures and demands generated by the production chain and the market. This chain of production on a local and global scale is associated with the global and regional markets that set prices, cost of inputs and value of the productive land. On the other hand, there are socio-cultural pressures such as consumer perception and migration of the rural population to urban centres. This socio-ecosystem is also affected by political factors such as environmental regulations and the rate of change (Wedderburn et al. 2013).

A highly relevant driver of change in agroecosystems is climate change. This factor affects the system's key attributes, such as vulnerability, adaptation, and resilience (IPCC et al. 2015; Mazzeo et al. 2017b). For example, the variability in rainfall and increases in temperature affect forage production, water availability and animal stress, among other productive factors. According to Errazola (2021), climate change would affect the suitability of the land to produce Lucerne in the northeast and northwest of Uruguay by 2050. This means that climate change is likely to negatively impact one of the main feed dairy pastures in the future.

Drivers of change do not work independently but rather interact, increasing the system's complexity and condition the dairy system's dynamics and response. On the other hand, it is essential to incorporate uncertainty as a property of the system and develop the anticipatory capacity to manage the uncertainty given mainly by external factors, such as climate and its impact on milk production. Furthermore, dealing with complex, uncertain and risk issues sometimes involves learning to live with a high degree of uncertainty and ambiguity (Sposito 2021).

4.2.2. Nutrient budgets

This section describes the results of the nutrient budgets following the methodology described (see Section 3.3.) Firstly, the nitrogen and phosphorous budgets are applied to the 'Tambo' paddocks. Secondly, the nutrient budgets are developed for the whole farm area. To interpret the numbers of the circle charts, refer to the corresponding nutrient budget table.

Tambo' Nutrient budgets- The table 6 summarizes the nitrogen budget for 'Tambo' paddocks (see section 2.6. and 3.3. to understand the terminology used).

NITROGEN				
INPUTS		OUTPUTS		
	kgN/year		kgN/year	
Mineral fertilizer	11667	Milk	14041	
Imported livestock feed	26146	Environment	26816	
Biological Nitrogen Fixation	15449	<u>Effluent management</u>	-	
Atmospheric deposition	618	Direct	80	
		Volatilization	2609	
		Leaching	161	
		Paddock -		
		Direct	339	
		Volatilization	9713	
		Leaching	13913	
Total inputs	53880	Total outputs	40857	
Total inputs/ha	428	Total outputs/ha	324	

Table 6. Nitrogen budget of 'Tambo'.

Source: elaborated by the author.

As shown in table 6, the N inputs are divided into mineral fertilizer, imported livestock feed, BNF, and atmospheric deposition. The proportion of these N inputs is illustrated in the following figure, where the main N inputs are the imported livestock feed, the second most important is the Biological Nitrogen Fixation (BNF), thirdly the mineral fertilizer, and the contribution of atmospheric deposition is minor.



Figure 29. N inputs 'Tambo' paddocks.

Source: elaborated by the author.

The N outputs evaluated in the 'Tambo' nutrient budget are represented in figure 30. It includes that the 66% of the N outputs of the nutrient budget 'Tambo' are in milk, and 34% are environmental outputs.



Figure 30. N outputs 'Tambo' paddocks.

Source: elaborated by the author.

Furthermore, the 'Tambo' paddocks' environmental N outputs can be considered losses divided into paddock and effluent management losses. For the paddock and effluent, the nutrient budget evaluated the direct N_2O , volatilization and lixiviation losses depicted below.



Figure 31. Environmental N outputs 'Tambo' paddocks.

Source: elaborated by the author.

Turning now to the P nutrient budget from the 'Tambo' paddocks, the following figure summarizes the results (see section 2.6. and 3.3. to understand the terminology used).

PHOSPHOROUS			
INPUTS		OUTPUTS	
	kgP/year	ear kgP	
Mineral fertilizer	0	Milk 24	
Imported livestock feed	4437	Environment	1205
		<u>Effluent management</u>	-
		Leaching	
		Paddock -	
		Particulate P	395
		Soluble P	648
Total inputs	4437	Total outputs	3653
Total inputs/ha	35	Total outputs/ha	29

Table 7. Phosphorous budget of 'Tambo'.

author.

Interestingly, the P inputs only represent the imported livestock feed, as is illustrated in the figure 32. As a difference to N, other forms of inputs did not appear. This critical point is explained in the following chapter discussion.



Figure 32. P inputs 'Tambo' paddocks.

Source: elaborated by the author.

Approximately two-thirds of P outputs are in milk, and the balance one-third are environmental outputs, as the following diagram depicts.



Figure 33. P outputs 'Tambo' paddocks.

Source: elaborated by the author.

As indicated previously, the environmental losses can be classified into those from the paddock and those from the effluent management system. Around 90% of the P losses are from the paddock, subdivided into particulate P and soluble P.



Figure 34. Environmental P outputs 'Tambo' paddocks.

Source: elaborated by the author.

Whole farm Nutrient budgets - As was explained in the methodology (see Section 3.3.), the whole farm nutrient budgets represent the analysis of the total area of the case study farm. The summary for the N whole-farm nutrient budget is shown in the subsequent figure. It is essential to highlight here that the whole farm analysis involves the meat sold as new output compared to the N budget for the 'Tambo' (see appendix A.4.).

NITROGEN				
INPUTS		OUTPUTS		
	kgN/year	kgN/year		
Mineral fertilizer	23042	Milk	14041	
Imported livestock feed	23455	Meat 1778		
Biological Nitrogen Fixation	32212	Environment	36260	
Atmospheric deposition	1278	<u>Effluent management</u>	-	
		Direct	80	
		Volatilization	2609	
		Leaching	161	
		<u>Paddock</u>	-	
		Direct	551	
		Volatilization	12678	
		Leaching	20180	
Total inputs	79987	Total outputs	52078	
Total inputs/ha	307	Total outputs/ha	200	

Table 8. Nitrogen budget of the whole farm

Source: elaborated by the author

The proportions of the N inputs and outputs for the whole farm are shown in figure 35. The principal N inputs are from the Biological Nitrogen Fixation (BNF), and the main outputs are environmental losses.



Figure 35. N inputs and outputs whole farm.

Source: elaborated by the author.

In addition, it is essential to present the results of the P nutrient budget for the whole farm.

PHOSPHOROUS			
INPUTS		OUTPUTS	
	kgP/year	kgP/year	
Mineral fertilizer	2084	Milk	2448
Imported livestock feed	3552	Meat	529
		Environment	2113
		<u>Effluent management</u>	-
		Leaching	162
		<u>Paddock</u>	
		Particulate P	1013
		Soluble P	938
Total inputs	5636	Total outputs	50 <mark>89</mark>
Total inputs/ha	22	Total outputs/ha	20

 Table 9. Phosphorous budget of the whole farm.

Source: elaborated by the author.

As the figure 36 shows, the whole budget includes P inputs from mineral fertilizer. Moreover, compared to the 'Tambo' budget, in this analysis the P outputs proportion change, with milk the greater, followed by environmental losses and meat sold.



Figure 36. P inputs and outputs whole farm.

Source: elaborated by the author.

4.2.3. Agent based model NPM

This section presents the agent-based model developed named NPM (see Section 3.4.). The results show the ABM simulates the nutrient dynamics and the problem formulated in a spatial and temporal pattern. The primary nutrient dynamic results are presented. The contribution of animal excreta is compared to the complete nutrient budget modelling to understand how ABM can analyse the nutrient dynamics.

Before examining the different model nutrient dynamic results, it is fundamental to understand how the NPM model represents the dairy farm case study. The following figure thus shows that the NetLogo interface displays the dairy farm paddocks with their name using the GIS information provided by the farmer. The milking parlour is situated in its actual place and the cows are in the paddock. In addition, the figure includes the graphs with the records provided by the farmer, cow number, milk production and protein and cow intake over the year. The graphs represent the value of the variable across the year simulated.



Figure 37. NPM model.

Source: elaborated by the author (NetLogo 6.2.).

Turning now to the cow nutrient use efficiency provided by the model simulation, the graph shows that there has been variation in the NUE and PUE across the year 2020 simulation. Both curves had a gradual increment in the first trimester and then a diminution of the efficiency in the last months of the year simulated. The month variation is explained because of the different monthly diets and different milk production.



Figure 38. Cows use efficiency.

Source: elaborated by the author (NetLogo 6.2.).

The 2020 simulation of the case study dairy farm is summarized in figure 39. It includes eight graphs that represent the variation of different variables across the year simulated:

- Graph I shows N variation on the paddock in the different land uses across the year simulation.
- <u>Graph II</u> describes the variation of N total, N mobile, and N immobile.
- Graphs IV and VIII represent the N and P in the effluent management system across the year.
- <u>Graphs III and VII</u> show the N and P environmental losses.
- <u>Graphs V and VI</u> represent the average P on soil and the difference between land uses.



Figure 39. Results of 2020 simulation.

Source: elaborated by the author (NetLogo 6.2.).

As was pointed out in Section 2.7, ABM allows the spatialization of complex system dynamics. Figure 40 illustrates the soil P dynamic, including the initial soil P situation, the soil P after oneyear simulation only counting cow's excretion, and finally the soil P in the complete simulation. The simulation was made with only excretion as the factor is important to comprehend how much P returns to the paddock by excretion. The model interface represents the P soil change by colour, and the graphs allow to understand the average situation in the ground. The charts show the initial P soil analysis of 41 ppm and the variation across the year simulated. While considering only cows' excretion, the P-value increases across the year, and in the entire nutrient dynamic situation, the line is stable across the simulation.



Figure 40. Soil P dynamic.

Source: elaborated by the author (NetLogo 6.2.).

The NPM model also allows the comprehension of the soil N dynamic. The figure 41 illustrates how much N returns to the paddock by excretion. Also, it is possible to understand how much N stays in the soil after one year of complete simulation. The paddock colours show the value of N on soil - the redder, the higher level of N. Besides, the graphs explain the kilograms of N depending on land use. It is essential to highlight here that as a difference from the P analysis, the initial N on soil assumed in this simulation is 0. This is represented in both graphs that at the beginning of the model simulation, where the kg N/ha is 0.



Figure 41. Soil N dynamics.

Source: elaborated by the author (NetLogo 6.2.).

4.3. Stage 3 - Scenarios as Possible Solutions

This section presents the results of different, and possible, farm management scenarios (see Section 3.5.) and their impacts on nitrogen and phosphorous dynamics. The scenarios are evaluated via the nutrient budgets. The impacts are mainly reflected in the nutrient use efficiency, inputs, and environmental losses.

The following table summarises how the farm management scenarios assessed impact nutrient inputs, outputs, and cow's nutrient efficiency. The 4th Scenario is not included in this table because it was analysed to the whole farm and not only to the 'Tambo' paddocks.

	Study case	Scenario 1	Scenario 2	Scenario 3	
	Current situation	Land Use	Diet	Stocking rate	
NITROGEN					
Total inputs/ha	428	415	377	386	
Total outputs/ha	324	329	326	269	
Milking cows NUE	24%	24%	24%	21%	
PHOSPHOROUS					
Total inputs/ha	35	-	26	28	
Total outputs/ha	29	-	29	25	
Milking cows PUE	33%	-	36%	30%	

Table 10	Form	managament	manting	anomaniaa
Table 10.	гагш	management	practices	scenarios.

Source: elaborated by the author.

The results of each management scenario are described in the following subsections.

4.3.1. Land use

Scenario 1 represents the change in land use (see Section 3.5.). This modification of land use does not change the NUE but changes the dairy system's N inputs and outputs. The proportion of inputs vary, as is shown in the figure 42. This chart reveals that the proportion of mineral fertilizer increased because of the reduction of N fixed by the Leguminosae. In addition, the environmental N outputs increment 560 kg N/year (see scenario 1 N budget in Appendix A.7., table 14).



Figure 42. N inputs for scenario 1.

Source: elaborated by the author.

4.3.2. Type of diet

Scenario 2 refers to the cow's diet proportion (see Section 3.5.). As shown in table 10, while the NUE maintains the current situation value, the PUE increases 3% compared to the current PUE. Furthermore, in this management scenario, the N input drops by 50 kg N/ha and N output increases by 2 kg N/ha. Also, the proportion of N inputs changes because the imported livestock feed decreases significantly compared with the current farm situation, as is represented in the following figure.



Figure 43. N inputs for scenario 2.

Source: elaborated by the author.

The P input drops by 9 kg P/ha, and the P outputs maintain the same value per hectare. However, the farm P environmental outputs (kg/year) change in the value of the punctual losses of the effluent management (see scenario 2 P budget in Appendix A.7., table 17).

4.3.3. Stocking rate

Scenario 3 refers to a decrease of stocking rate, showing that the total N output is lower because not only the N on milk decreased, but also did the environmental N losses. Still, the P outputs

decreased due to the lower milk production. Table 10 indicates the lower NUE and PUE in that situation compared to the actual case study. Moreover, this scenario covers a lower effluent generation due to the stocking rate reduction (see Appendix A.7., table 18 and 19).

4.3.4. Effluent management

In *Scenario 4*, the effluent is used as organic fertilizer in the paddock of the rest of the area. Because of this, the mineral fertilizer used in the whole farm has decreased. This is expressed through the proportion of N and P inputs of the whole farm nutrient budget (see Appendix A.7., Tables 20 and 21). In the following figure, it is also possible to appreciate that the proportion of mineral fertilizer decreased compared to the current dairy farm situation.



Figure 44. N and P inputs scenario 4 Whole Farm.

Source: elaborated by the author.

Regarding the outputs, Scenario 4 shows an increment in paddock volatilization by 518 kg N/ year (see Appendix A.7., Table 20).

CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION

Chapter 5 discusses the main findings in the first three methodological stages - *problem formulation, situation and diagnosis, and solutions*, and compare them with other relevant studies. The analysis and discussion are particularly focus on the problem formulated, the nutrient dynamic results, and the collective learning and sustainable dairy farming. The applications of nutrient budget and agent-based model in a farm-scale are also analysed.

5.1. Problem Formulated and Nutrient Dynamics

As explained in the previous chapters, the nutrient budget and the modelling are very suitable methods for understanding the problem formulated and the farm nutrient dynamic. According to Cherry et al. (2008), the nutrient budget is a valuable and straightforward tool to analyse farm data and evaluate the nutrients inputs and outputs. However, the nutrient budget method has some limitations and can be appropriately complemented with suitable modelling. In this way, models allow the quantification of nutrients dynamic to describe and analyse the environmental performance of a farm. Furthermore, the ABM modelling enables the analysis of the model agents in space and time (Railsback and Grimm 2019).

The present thesis applies both methods to analyse the N and P dynamics deeper. Firstly, the application of the nutrient budget allows to understand nutrient inputs, outputs, efficiency, and environmental impacts. Secondly, in a complementary way, the NPM model analysis in this thesis enables to understand the nutrient flows in the dairy farm's year simulation, or for different components separately, for example, simulating only with the cow's excreta. As was mentioned

before, the modelling permits exploring how the system behaves without taking any action that may negatively impact the system itself (Jackson 2011, cited by Sposito 2021).

5.1.1. Nutrients budgets and NPM model

The results of the analyses of the farm in Uruguay across the nutrient budgets produced similar values to regional and European investigations. This is exemplified, for instance, in research undertaken by Carbó (2011), who showed nutrient budget values related to N and P per hectare (value = inputs - outputs) of 121.5 kg N/ha/ year and 18.3 kg P/ha/year – results very similar to those presented in Chapter 4 of the present thesis. Similarly, other research by Van Leeuwen et al. (2019) reported five pasture-based dairy farms with similar inputs and outputs values to those obtained in the Uruguayan dairy farm studied. This suggests that the methodology used in the thesis produces common dairy farm values. However it is essential when comparing results with similar research to consider the farm's productive reality and the country's production conditions.

Furthermore, Lizarralde (2013)'s research for Uruguay, produced similar values of nitrous oxide emissions from the effluent management system and N excreted per cow per year. According to a summary of studies from New Zealand, France, the United Kingdom, and Denmark (Ledgard 2009), the leaching found in that summary is similar to the value for the N input level of the case study farm. The previous sentences allow considering the thesis calculation methodology and sources consulted for the environmental nutrient losses as suitable.

As indicated previously, the soluble P losses from the paddock were more significant than the particulate losses. It is in accordance with the Uruguayan research (Perdomo 2015) about the P index -the sum of soluble and particulate P. This index helps to evaluate the management area

level and identify the area with the highest contribution of P. Interestingly, the approach in this thesis of assessing the 'Tambo' paddocks separately from the whole farm paddocks showed the higher P index in the 'Tambo' area, thus reflecting the more significant P inputs in the 'Tambo' area. While the P index can be conceived as a static value for the current situation, the P budget can be analysed as a measure of direction because it involves more variables.

Focusing on the consideration of the whole farm nutrients budget, it showed expected results due to the reality of the case study farm. By having less intensive production in the rest of the farming area compared to the 'Tambo' area, the values for the whole farm inputs and outputs per hectare were lower than those reported in the 'Tambo' nutrient budget. This is partly explained by the stocking rate and excreta of dairy cows in 'Tambo' paddocks compared to the low stocking rate of other cow categories in the rest of the area.

Regarding NPM model application, according to Wedderburn et al. (2013), the ABM allows the exploration of farm systems' behaviour. The NPM model developed and applied in this thesis allowed visualising the farm heterogeneity between the different paddocks. It was also possible to evaluate the nutrient dynamics depending on land use and time of cow grazing. The specialisation of the NPM model is beneficial to analyse the different management decisions. Similarly, Veltman et al. (2018), using a process-based model for a dairy farm, proved that reducing the N and P environmental losses across beneficial management practices is possible.

According to the NPM model, for the case study farm, even if there is not fertiliser used, the P level in the soil may be maintained due to the contribution of cow excretions, as is shown in the simulating only cow's excreta simulation (see Figure 40). In the same way, De Lucca (2020) demonstrated that the soluble losses of P exceed desirable limits in the non-application treatment.

The high P exportation suggests that it is necessary to introduce other management alternatives apart from not fertilising. Because of that, to reduce the level of P on soil in the medium term, it is required to apply different management practices depending on the specific soil phosphorus level and the soil stratification. For example, it is possible to incorporate extractive plant species in terms of nutrients and export them in forage or grain. Moreover, if the stratification level is high, periodic soil inversion is recommended to break P stratification (Kleinman et al. 2015 and De Lucca 2020).

Animal nutrient use efficiencies based on dietary nutrients and nutrients in milk are beneficial to compare the potential for environmental impact. According to an extensive literature review (Rotz et al. 2005, Cherry et al. 2008, Arriaga et al. 2009, Ryan et al. 2011 and Davidson et al. 2015), improving cows NUE and PUE is the most effective form of increasing productivity and decreasing environmental impact. According to a study by Aarons et al. (2020), the case study farm with a NUE of 24%, is in the range of commercial dairy farms. Furthermore, Powell et al. (2010) found a NUE of 24% for a similar stocking rate, whilst Aarons (2021) reported an average of 21% NUE. Furthermore, the present thesis found a PUE of 33% for the current farm situation, which according to Aarons (2020) is in the expected range. Related to the NUE, it is necessary to adjust the cow's diet to the protein required. This means changing the N intake in the diet because the higher the N content, the higher the N losses the environment.

5.1.2. Farm management scenarios

According to Darré et al. 2021, the management factors related to the grazing system, land use, type of diet and the number of inputs can be more relevant in determining the environmental impacts of dairy systems than productivity per se. These management factors are equivalent to the scenarios evaluated in this thesis (see Section 3.5.).

Another research (Lemaire et al. 2015) analysed management situations to minimise trade-offs between farm production and the environment. They stated that an overly uniform land-use system and the excessive N–P loads in intensive animal areas lead to unacceptable environmental impacts. The present thesis results similarly showed that the current situation of the dairy farm's high stocking rate can be partly responsible for high N and P losses to the environment (see Section 4.2.2, Results – Nutrient Budgets.

Moving on to the scenarios evaluated, *Scenario 3* tried to understand how a lower stocking rate impacts the results – it showed lower environmental outputs. Predominantly, they are expressed in paddock and effluent N losses. In the case of P, the reduction is only in the effluent losses, probably because it is not possible to see an influence on paddock losses due to the limitations of the nutrient budget approach. The reduction in environmental losses is mainly due to the lower generation of excreta due to fewer cows, as was stated in the bibliography (Fernández-Marcos 2011; Arriaga et al. 2009). Additionally, the NPM model is beneficial for evaluating and understanding the excreta impact on the paddock (see Figures 40 and 41).

In *Scenario 1* of land use, because of the reduction of Leguminosae, the proportion of the inputs changed, reducing the BNF and increasing the inputs that affect the environment and cost money to purchase like mineral fertilizer. In a similar study, Garcia et al. (2021) concluded that Leguminosae in the pastures can significantly reduce the farm N inputs, increment the N availability for the grass, nutrient cycling and ecosystem services. Rochette and Janzen (cited by IPCC 2019a) also claimed that BNF is not considered a direct source of N₂O emissions. Furthermore, this scenario showed that the BNF does not generate environmental losses and reduces mineral fertilizer use. Although the total input of N into the system decreases 1535 kg N,

this input reduction is in BNF, and the farm loses autonomy to external nutrient inputs (Charlón et al. 2014).

Turning now to the cow's diet, some research suggests the diet strongly influences environmental losses (Ryan et al. 2011, Tayyab and McLean 2015, Darre et al. 2021). What is more, Aarons et al. (2020) stated that imported animal feed is a more significant source of nutrients than fertilizer inputs. This means that the proportion in the cow's diet of pasture versus concentrated feeding defines the possible farm nutrient losses (Darre et al. 2021). Furthermore, according to Ryan et al. (2011), the more kilograms of concentrates in the diet, the higher N is available for leaching. In *Scenario 2* in my research, the reduction of concentrates on the cow's diet reduces the P outputs in the punctual losses of the effluent management. This reduction is because the animal produces a lower P on excreta with the new diet. Furthermore, it is not possible to evaluate the change of P diffuse losses of the paddock because the nutrient budget approach is not sensitive to that change.

According to the results of *Scenario 4*, the dairy farm effluent can be used as organic fertilizer in the paddocks of the rest of the area, decreasing the mineral fertilizer use and changing the proportion of N and P inputs. It is important to highlight here that the effluent cannot be used in the 'Tambo' paddocks because of the excessive P on the soil. Currently, the farmer does not apply any P fertilizer on the 'Tambo' area because the farm has a P accumulation on the ground. This is shown in the soil analysis by high P bray values (41 ppm P bray average, see Appendix A.4.). This situation is caused by P surplus that manifests in soil accumulation and as losses to watercourses by erosion or runoff (Perdomo 2015).

The scenarios evaluated in the thesis show the same NUE value described previously, except in *Scenario 3*, which reduces 3% because a probable limitation in the calculation methodology. In

the case of PUE, when the cow's diet was less concentrated (Scenario 2), it transformed to 36%, being the dairy cows more efficient in converting the P feed into milk. Besides, in the fewer stocking rate *Scenario 3*, the PUE was 30%. It is essential to highlight that the scenarios applicability to the NUE and PUE analysis is limited because of the scenario's methodology used and their impact on the nutrient budget.

5.2. Collective Learning and Sustainable Dairy Farm

Any research that successfully attempts to address sustainability challenges needs the close collaboration between researchers (academics) and not-academics; i.e.; *people in the problematic situation* (Checkland and Poulter, 2006; Norström et al. 2020). Therefore, the collective learning pursued in this thesis intended to address the communication between the researcher and the farmers. The thesis process thus included strong interaction with the farmers to promote collective learning (see Appendix A.3.). This approach is considered extremely beneficial for analysing the formulated problem and designing pathways and implementation actions to achieve a more sustainable dairy farm production. Furthermore, farm nutrient management is a complex problem, and many decision-making aspects are involved. It is therefore essential to incorporate the farmer's skills and knowledge to attain a more resilient agroecosystem (Pretty 2008).

Turning now to specific interaction with the case study farmer and his close collaborators, the communication with them was based on describing the nutrient budget results and the agent-based model. This included a framework and demonstration of the tool's applicability. In addition, in another opportunity, the main findings of the thesis were transmitted to the farmers' group (see Appendix A.3.). Remarkably, the farmer of the case study was very interested in the model and nutrient budget because of the sense of belonging in seeing the reality of his farm. In the

interactions, the farmer suggested possible future utilisation of the model. Furthermore, the case study farmer said that it could be interesting to explore the nutrient dynamics in the long term, not only for a one-year simulation.

In the discussion, the farmer also said that the P analysis of the thesis was interesting and should be considered by the farmers in the group that currently have a lower P accumulation on the soil. This suggests that the NPM model transmits the reality of the P accumulation on the ground and the environmental losses efficiently. In that sense, the farmer made an interesting reflection on the historical P fertilization in the farm that, according to him, was excessive and higher than the pasture's requirements. Moreover, the farmer said that he is worried about reducing the level of P on the soil. In a comparable situation, Cherry et al. (2008) found that the particular soil's P buffer effect clearly needs a comprehensive mitigation strategy. Similarly to the case study farm situation, Sharpley et al. (2013) reported that the historic fertilization of P sources on the surface, the direct deposition of manure by livestock, and the soil management generated a legacy of P.

Apart from soil analysis for monitoring P, it can be an excellent strategy to evaluate Milk Urea Nitrogen (MUN) as an indicator of the N situation in the farm system. Due to N mobility in the soil, MUN can be an appropriate indicator of N in the excreta and in the whole system (Marshall et al. 2020). In the same way, the MUN allows monitoring the protein status of cows and avoiding the addition of excessive degradable nitrogen to the diet. During the interaction with the farmers the incorporation of MUN analysis into farm management was discussed. The MUN analysis is monitored regularly in dairy farms that remit milk to the industry. On the contrary, artisan cheesemaker dairy farms are not expected to analyse MUN; thus, as the group of farmers are cheesemakers, they considered this as a useful idea to incorporate.

Furthermore, according to Wedderburn et al. (2013), the collective learning approach can also enable policy planners to engage and learn about the impact of the individual decisions and strategies to improve the problematic situations.

In the same way, this research aimed to contribute to the strategic planning of the national Government of Uruguay to achieve a more sustainable dairy farm production. In this context, I believe that the thesis research and outcomes provide useful instruments and information in developing farm-scale policies to achieve this fundamental goal for the country. The dairy farm sector is vital for Uruguay, and it is included in the national plans to reduce the nutrient contamination to waterways and the greenhouse gas reduction goal (MGAP 2019; MVOTMA 2019). Furthermore, the research in the thesis contributes to local management, associated with the measures of the Santa Lucia River Action Plans. Mainly, it contributes to dairy farm sustainable development in measures 3 and 5 (MVOTMA 2013) and the axis 2 of reduction of nutrients contamination from point and diffuse sources (MVOTMA 2018).
CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSION

In this final chapter, the *main findings* of the research are firstly summarised. Secondly, the contribution to knowledge is described by reference to the answering of the *Research Questions* posed at the beginning of the study (in Chapter 1). Thirdly, some research limitations and methodological considerations are mentioned. Further research on the topic and specific directions for improvement are then discussed. The chapter concludes with a personal reflection.

6.1. Fundamental Findings

The key findings of this research can be summarised as follows.

- Application of the *Nutrient Budget Method* provides a good understanding of nutrient inputs and outputs in farm systems. The nutrient *inputs* are highly related to external livestock feed (including concentrates) and N fixed by Leguminosae. Furthermore, the environmental *outputs* are significantly associated with the characteristics of farm management.
- The nutrient inputs related to the livestock feed are partly responsible for the nutrient losses to the environment and resulting damage. As a consequence, based on the case study of a typical Uruguayan dairy farm, a reduction of the external livestock feed and an increment of pastoral cow's diet would reduce the environmental impacts.
- In this approach, it is necessary to adjust the cow's diet to the protein required. The Milk Urea Nitrogen (MUN) analysis can monitor the protein status, avoiding excessive degradable nitrogen in the diet. This means that it is crucial to adjust the N intake in the diet, because the higher the N content, the higher the N losses to the environment.

- The excessive P accumulation on soil in the typical Uruguayan dairy farm needs a novel management strategy to reduce the continuous P losses to water systems. According to the agent-based *Nitrogen Phosphorous Management* (NPM) model, the non-use of P fertilization would not be sufficient to decrease the P levels on the soil for the case study farm.
- It is important to maximize the time animals spend in the pasture fields and minimize the time in the milking parlour and roads due to the role of cow's excreta as a fertilizer. Moreover, it is critical to reduce the generation of dairy effluent or losses outside the pasture fields.
- The NPM model is very useful as a communication with, and informing tool to, farmers. It permits *collective learning* between the researchers and the farmers i.e.; 'the people in the problematic situation'.
- Agricultural research is firmly based and generally accepted by farmers when the problematic situation is formulated and the research is conducted in interaction with them. At the same time, this interaction allows farmers to better comprehend environmental issues and inform their management decisions from a sustainable perspective.

6.2. Contribution to Knowledge – Answer to the Research Questions

Implementing new management practices generally implies an initial increment in farmers' costs, which can be progressively recouped as the farm becomes more sustainable and efficient. Consequently, it is vital to support farmers with the appropriate decision-making instruments. The *Nutrient Budget Method* and the *Nitrogen Phosphorous Management* (NPM) model are appropriate decision support tools for dairy farmers to evaluate nutrient efficiency and farm performance. At the same time, the approach to *collective learning* adopted in this thesis supports the construction of shared visions for the future and designing and implementing common actions

among diverse actors for achieving the desirable future. Collective learning requires a constructive dialogue and capacity to analyse the present and the future, understanding shared spaces, strategic and operational objectives, and the different assumptions and possible solutions to the perceived problematic situations.

In what follows, the answer to Research Questions posed at the beginning of this thesis (in Chapter 1) are briefly discussed.

Research Question 1 (RQ 1) - How can the current Uruguayan dairy farm configuration be transformed to be more sustainable?

The Agroecosystem sustainability approach adopted in this thesis proved to be an appropriate one to address sustainable dairy farm issues. It is especially useful in addressing the complexity of the farm management practices interacting with the economic, ecologic, organisational, and socio-cultural fields. Furthermore, it is essential to understand the structural and functional relations between different components of the production systems.

Research Question 2 (RQ 2) - Which are the dairy farm management practices that reduce nutrient pollution?

As demonstrated in the thesis, increasing the area of Leguminosae pastures to augment biological nitrogen fixation (BNF) is an effective sustainable practice to reduce nutrient losses. Promoting the proper farm feed is also essential, leading to a more pastoral animals' diet. Besides, it is essential to regularly make soil nutrients analysis in order to fertilise only, and in what quantities, when the crops require it.

Research Question 3 (RQ 3) - Which management scenarios (i.e.; actions) maximize nutrient efficiency and, at the same time, minimize the nutrient losses to the environment?

As shown in the case study of a typical Uruguayan dairy farm, reducing the cows' stocking rate is an appropriate management decision to reduce nutrient loss to the environment. Another effective management practice is to promote the biological nitrogen fixation (BNF) and the pastoral diet. Moreover, the scenario of nutrient circularity using the effluent as fertiliser is another fam management action that maximises the nutrient efficiency and, at the same time, minimises the nutrient losses and damage to the environment.

Research Question 4 (RQ 4) - Can Agent-based Modelling (ABM) spatialize the nutrient dynamics of a dairy farm?

An agent-based model is an excellent tool for spatialising the nutrient dynamics in a farm system and utilising it for farmers' collective learning. Furthermore, the model can be used to represent and explore the behaviour of complex agroecosystems to find solutions related to environmental problems as well as enhancing the information required for successful strategic planning from national to regional/local and farm geographic levels.

6.3. Methodological Considerations and Research Limitations

The multimethodological research approach applied in the present thesis has an excellent capability to answer the research questions formulated. The methods selected to implement the methodology focused on dairy production systems are also clearly appropriate to each of the three methodological stages covered in this thesis: *problem formulation, situation and diagnosis. and solution* (see Figure 17). It is however important to mention here that the approach and methods

used in this thesis are based on multiple accepted bibliography sources. Furthermore, the development of the Nutrient Budget Method and the NPM model uses many variables, which are thoroughly explained in this document and that can be conveniently applied in similar, and further, research. Because of this, it has been crucial to reference each variable and the data sources used. Notably, the evaluation of environmental N losses was more accessible than the P losses. This may be due to the fact that the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC 2019) has a deeper analysis of greenhouse gas emissions equations associated with N.

Furthermore, the methods and the data used are not sensitive to the change of P diffuse losses in the paddocks. Due to this, the evaluation related to management practices and P paddock losses is limited. The applicability of the management scenarios to the Nitrogen Use Efficiency (NUE) and Phosphorous Use Efficiency (PUE) analysis is also limited because of the scenario's methodology and their low impact on the nutrient budget. Also, the nutrient budget approach has not evaluated the variation in the accumulation of P and N in the soil because of the complexity of the processes involved. Likewise, this variation in the accumulation may explain the difference found between inputs and outputs on the nutrient's budgets.

Finally, the time available for the thesis' development (around 10 months in Uruguay) did not allow more interactions with farmers to promote further collective learning and implementation.

6.4. Further Research

Further research would be interesting to complement the present investigation to encompass the final steps of the multimethodology: *decision-taking, monitoring, and implementation* as depicted in Figure 17.

In addition, further research can be beneficial to evaluate the NPM model in the whole farm area of the case study, not only in the 'Tambo' paddocks. This would enable the comprehension of the heterogeneity between the different intensity of pastures and animals' density in all the farm's areas. It can also be interesting to test the management scenarios evaluated on the NPM model. Besides, as suggested by the case study farmer, the model simulation would be improved by a long-term simulation. This would allow a deeper agroecosystem comprehension as well as enhance the farmers' decision making.

Although this research was based on a case study in Uruguay, the multimethodology applied and the methods developed within its framework can be clearly extended to other regions since comprehensive information has been provided in the thesis.

6.5. A Journey of Exploration

It is appropriate to conclude my journey of exploration in Australia and Uruguay with a quote from David Attenborough (2020, p. 220), one of the world's leading naturalists. It expresses my feelings of hope for a better world and my conviction that a sustainable future is possible.

'Homo sapiens, the wise human being, must now learn from its mistakes and live up to its name. We who are alive today have the formidable task of making sure that our species does so. We must not give up hope. We have all the tools we need, the thoughts and ideas of billions of remarkable minds and the immensurable energies of nature to help us in our work. And we have one more thing - an ability, unique perhaps among the living creatures on the planet - to imagine a future and work towards achieving it . . . All we require is the will'.

REFERENCES

- Aarons, SR, Gourley, CJP & Powell, JM 2020, 'Nutrient intake, excretion and use efficiency of grazing lactating herds on commercial dairy farms', *Animals*, vol. 10, no. 3, viewed 2 March 2021, https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edselc&AN=edselc.2-52.0-85081121722&authtype=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site>.
- Arriaga, H, Pinto, M, Calsamiglia, S & Merino, P 2009, 'Nutritional and management strategies on nitrogen and phosphorus use efficiency of lactating dairy cattle on commercial farms: An environmental perspective', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 92, no. 1, pp. 204–215, viewed 1 September 2021, <<u>https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edselp&AN=S002203020970</u> <u>3261&authtype=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site</u>>.
- Attenborough, D 2020, A Life on Our Planet My Witness Statement and a Vision for the Future, Witness Books, Penguin Random House, London.
- Aubriot, L, Delbene, L, Haakonsson, S, Somma, A, Hirsch, F, Bonilla, S 2017, 'Evolution of eutrophication in Santa Lucía River: influence of land use intensification and perspectives', *Magazine of the Technological Laboratory of Uruguay*, ISSN 1688-6593, INNOTEC 2017, No. 14 (7 16) · DOI 10.26461/14.04, viewed 18 October 2021, <<u>https://catalogo.latu.org.uy/opac_css/index.php?lvl=notice_display&id=31634</u>>.
- Barreto, P, Dogliotti, S & Perdomo, C 2017, 'Surface Water Quality of Intensive Farming Areas Within the Santa Lucia River Basin of Uruguay', *Air, Soil & Water Research*, no. 10, pp. 1–8, viewed 9 November 2021, <<u>https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=eih&AN=127521787&authtyp</u> <u>e=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site</u>>.
- Bartaburu, D, Bommel, P, Corral, J, de Hegedus, P, Dieguez, F, Duarte, E, Montes, E, Morales, H, Pereira, M, Altieri, P 2011, 'Evaluación de una metodología de modelación y simulación participativa para contribuir a la comprensión y comunicación del fenómeno de la sequía y mejorar la capacidad de adaptación de productores ganaderos del Basalto', Plan Agropecuario, FPTA INIA 286, viewed 1 July 2021, <<u>https://www.planagropecuario.org.uy/uploads/libros/18_simulacion.pdf</u>>.
- Baskaran, R, Cullen, R & Colombo, S 2009, 'Estimating values of environmental impacts of dairy farming in New Zealand', *New Zealand Journal of Agricultural Research*, 52:4, 377-389, DOI: 10.1080/00288230909510520
- Becoña G, Ledgard S, Astigarraga L, Lizarralde C, Dieguez F, Morales H 2020, 'EMAG- National model to evaluate environmental impacts of cattle production systems in Uruguay', *Agrociencia Uruguay*, 24(2):48, viewed 18 October 2021, <<u>http://agrocien-ciauruguay</u>. <u>uy/ojs/in-dex.php/agrociencia/arti-cle/view/48</u>>.

- Biovalor 2018, 'Circularidad de nutrientes', Proyecto Biovalor Uruguay, viewed 11 October 2020, <<u>https://biovalor.gub.uy/circularidad-nutrientes/</u>>.
- Bommel, P, Dieguez, F, Bartaburu, D, Duarte, E, Montes, E, Machín, MP, Grosskopf, HM, Corral, J & Pereira de Lucena, CJ 2014, 'A further step towards participatory modelling. fostering stakeholder involvement in designing models by using executable UML', *JASSS*, vol. 17, no. 1, viewed 24 October 2021, <<u>https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edselc&AN=edselc.2-52.0-</u> <u>84893409126&authtype=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site</u>>.
- Brown, VA & Lambert, JA 2012, Collective learning for transformational change: a guide to collaborative action, Taylor and Francis, viewed 12 September 2021, <<u>https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=cat00097a&AN=deakin.b3536</u> 163&site=eds-live&scope=site>.
- Canaparo, D, Bilinski, G, Martínez, N 2019, 'Análisis de competitividad y factibilidad de inserción internacional de queso Colonia', tesis de grado, Licenciado en Negocios Internacionales e Integración, Universidad Católica del Uruguay, viewed 1 October 2021, < <u>https://silo.uy/vufind/Record/LIBERI_db4845358d0e1fb71ecd38d21942d2c3</u>>.
- Canfield D., Glazer A. & Falkowski P. (2010), 'The Evolution and Future of Earth's Nitrogen Cycle', *Science*, vol. 330, no. 6001, pp. 192–196, viewed 21 July 2021, <<u>https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edsjsr&AN=edsjsr.40931809</u> &authtype=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site>.
- Carbó, LI, 2011, 'Nutrient balances as a tool to estimate the potential for recycling of dairy effluents into forage resources', Thesis of the Specialty in Management of Pasture Systems, Faculty of Agronomy UBA.
- Chapin F, Folke C & Kofinas G, 2009, 'A Framework for Understanding Change', Principles of ecosystem stewardship, Resilience-based natural resource management in a changing world', Chapin III F.S., Folke, C. & Kofinas, G.P. (eds.) Springer Science+Business Media. pp: 3-28.
- Charlón, V, Carbó, L, Herrero, MA, Cuatrin, A 2014, 'Nitrogen balance in dairy farms and it relationship with indicators of structure and management.' In: 37° Congress of the Argentine Association of Animal Production, 2014, Buenos Aires, RAPA. Vol. 34, Supl. 1
- Checkland, P 1981, Systems Thinking, System Practice, latest reprints with a 30-year retrospective by Checkland.
- Checkland P and Poulter J (2006), Learning for Action A Short Definitive Account of Soft Systems Methodology and its use for Practitioners, Teachers and Students, John Wiley & Sons, Chichester.

Cherry, K, Shepherd, M, Withers, P & Mooney, S 2008, 'Assessing the effectiveness of actions to mitigate nutrient loss from agriculture: A review of methods', Science of the Total Environment, vol. 406, no. 1, pp. 1–23, viewed 1 May 2021, <<u>https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edselp&AN=S004896970800</u> 7559&authtype=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site>.

Dairy NZ 2015, 'Farm Dairy Effluent: Design Standards and Code of Practice', version 3, p. 68

- Darré, E, Llanos, E, Astigarraga, L, Cadenazzi, M & Picasso, V 2021, 'Do pasture-based mixed dairy systems with higher milk production have lower environmental impacts? A Uruguayan case study', *New Zealand Journal of Agricultural Research*, vol. 64, no. 3, pp. 444–462, viewed 20 July 2021, <<u>https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN=151135961&authty</u> pe=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site>.
- Davidson, EA, David, MB, Galloway, JN, Goodale, CL, Haeuber, R, Harrison, JA, Howarth, RW, Jaynes, DB, Lowrance, RR, Nolan, BT, Peel, JL, Pinder, RW, Porter, E, Snyder, CS, Townsend, AR, Ward, MH, 2012, 'Excess nitrogen in the U.S. environment: Trends, Risks, and Solutions', Issues in ecology 15: 1-16.
- Davidson, EA, Suddick, EC, Rice, CW & Prokopy, LS 2015, 'More food, low pollution (Mo Fo Lo Po): a grand challenge for the 21st century', J. Environ, Qual. 44, 305–311.
- De Lucca 2020, 'Pérdidas de fósforo por escorrentía desde el suelo, fertilizante y estiércol: cuantificación y distribución en el tiempo', Tesis de maestría en Ciencias Agrarias opción Ciencias del Suelo, Universidad de la República, Facultad de Agronomía, Uruguay.
- Delbene, L 2018, 'Eutrofización del Río Santa Lucía: Dinámica de nutrientes asociada régimen hidrológico y a la intensificación productiva', Tesis de maestría, Universidad de la República, Facultad de Ciencias - PEDECIBA, Uruguay, viewed 21 April 2021, <<u>https://www.colibri.udelar.edu.uy/jspui/handle/20.500.12008/21465</u>>.
- Díaz Rossello, R. (1992), 'Evolucion del nitrogeno total en rotaciones con pasturas', Revista INIA, Uruguay, Dic 1992, v. 1(1) p. 27-35. Numero especial.
- Dieguez, F, Hornick, J, Istasse, L, Dufrasne, I 2008, 'Permanent pasture utilization on an extensification context: an application on meat and milk production systems', Annales de Médecine Véterinaire, Vol. 152, p.138 151.
- DINAMA, Imfia, Conaprole 2008, Comprehensive water management guide in dairy establishments, J. Ricaldoni Foundation, 231 p.
- Dodds, WK, Bouska, WW, Eittzmann, JL, Pilger, TJ, Pitts, KL, Riley, AJ, Schloesser, JT & Thornbrugh, DJ 2009, 'Eutrophication of U.S. Freshwaters: Analysis of Potential Economic Damages', Environmental Science & Technology, vol. 43, no. 1, pp. 12–19, viewed 28 April 2021,

<<u>https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edo&AN=36395070&authtyp</u> e=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site>.

- Errazola, P 2021, 'Climate Change Impacts on The Uruguayan Dairy Sector by 2050', Master Science (Research) thesis, School of Life and Environmental Sciences and Centre for Regional and Rural Futures, Deakin University.
- Ellen MacArthur Foundation 2013, Towards the circular economy: An economic and business rationale for an accelerated transition, viewed 30 September 2021, <<u>www.ellenmacarthurfoundation.org/assets/downloads/publications/Ellen-MacArthur-Foundation-Towards-the-Circular-Economy-vol.1.pdf</u>>.
- Eurostat 2011, 'Analysis of methodologies for calculating greenhouse gas and ammonia emissions and nutrient balances', Methodologies and Working papers, European Union, doi:10.2785/21209
- Fariña, S, Chilibroste, P 2019, 'Opportunities and challenges for the growth of milk production from pasture: the case of farm systems in Uruguay', *Agricultural Systems* 176 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2019.05.001.
- Fernández-Marcos, ML (2011), 'Contaminación por fósforo procedente de la fertilización orgánica de suelos agrícolas', Servizo de Publicacións e Intercambio Científico, Universidade de Santiago de Compostela, viewed 30 April 2021, <<u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/230688083 Contaminacion por fosforo proc</u> <u>edente de la fertilizacion organica de suelos agricolas</u>>.
- FAO 2018a, 'Nutrient flows and associated environmental impacts in livestock supply chains: Guidelines for assessment', Version 1, Livestock Environmental Assessment and Performance (LEAP) Partnership. Rome, FAO. 196 pp. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.
- FAO 2018b, Climate-Smart Agriculture: Case studies. Successful approaches from different regions, Rome, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- Garcia, L, Dubeux, JCB, Sollenberger, LE, Vendramini, JMB, DiLorenzo, N, Santos, ERS, Jaramillo, DM & Ruiz, MM 2021, 'Nutrient excretion from cattle grazing nitrogenfertilized grass or grass-legume pastures', *Agronomy Journal*, vol. 113, no. 4, pp. 3110– 3123, viewed 31 August 2021, <<u>https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edo&AN=151959936&authty</u> pe=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site>.
- Gourley, CJP, Powell, JM, Dougherty, WJ & Weaver, DM 2007, 'Nutrient budgeting as an approach to improving nutrient management on Australian dairy farms', *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*, vol. 47, no. 9, pp. 1064–1074, viewed 11 October 2020, http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edswsc&AN=00024858220000

<a>http://search.ebsconost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edswsc&AIN=00024838220000 7&authtype=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site>.

- Gourley, CJP, Aarons, SR, Awty, IM, Gibson, DM, Hannah, MC, Smith, AP, Dougherty, WJ, Weaver, DM & Peverill, KI 2012, 'Farm-scale nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium and sulfur balances and use efficiencies on Australian dairy farms', Animal Production Science, vol. 52, no. 10, pp. 929–944, viewed 11 October 2020, <<u>https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edselc&AN=edselc.2-52.0-84865461508&site=eds-live&scope=site>.</u>
- Gliessman, S 2004, 'Agroecology and Agroecosystems', in *Agroecosystems Analysis*, Volume 43, American Society of Agronomy, Madison, WI. 2004. pp. 19-30
- Grimm, V, Berger, U, DeAngelis, DL, Polhill, JG, Giske, J & Railsback, SF 2010, 'The ODD protocol: A review and first update', *Ecological Modelling*, vol. 221, no. 23, pp. 2760– 2768, viewed 9 August 2021, <<u>https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edselp&AN=S030438001000</u> <u>414X&authtype=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site</u>>.
- Grimm, V, Railsback, SF, Vincenot, CE, Berger, U, Gallagher, C, DeAngelis, DL, Edmonds, B, Ge, J, Giske, J, Groeneveld, J, Johnston, ASA, Milles, A, Nabe-Nielsen, J, Polhill, JG, Radchuk, V, Rohwäder, M-S, Stillman, RA, Thiele, JC & Ayllón, D 2020, 'The ODD Protocol for Describing Agent-Based and Other Simulation Models: A Second Update to Improve Clarity, Replication, and Structural Realism', *Journal of Artificial Societies & Social Simulation*, vol. 23, no. 2, pp. 1–20, viewed 9 August 2021, <<u>https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edo&AN=148302572&site=e ds-live&scope=site</u>>.
- Gutiérrez, S, Cabrera, N, Benítez, A, Melani, E 2009, 'Reducing variability in estimating wastewater composition in dairy farms during milking operations', *Biosyst. Eng.*, 103, 497–503. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biosystemseng.2009.06.004.
- Hart, R 1985, 'Agroecosystems: Basic concepts', *Tropical Agronomic Center for Research and Teaching (CATIE)*. Turrialba, C. R. 159p.
- INALE 2018, 'Waterproofing of accumulation pools of dairy farm effluent: recommendations and specifications techniques', National Milk Institute, Uruguay, 16 p., viewed 1 May 2021, <<u>https://www.INALE.org/informes/impermeabilizacion-de-piletas-de-acumulacion-de-efluentes-de-Tambo´s/</u>>.
- INALE 2019, 'Criteria on ground effluent application and its practical implication in design and implementation', National Milk Institute, Uruguay, 28 p., viewed 1 May 2021, <<u>https://www.INALE.org/informes/criterios-de-aplicacion-de-efluente-a-terreno-y-suimplicancia-practica-en-el-diseno-e-implementacion/</u>>.
- INALE 2020, 'Modelo lechero 10 y Modelo lechero 12', ejercicio 2019-2020 resultados preliminares, National Milk Institute, Uruguay.

- INALE 2021, 'Uruguay Lechero', National Milk Institute, Uruguay, viewed 1 May 2021, <<u>https://www.INALE.org/uruguay-lechero/</u>>.
- INE 2011, 'Instituto Nacional de Estadística', Instituto Nacional de Estadística Uruguay, viewed 1 May 2021, <<u>http://www.ine.gub.uy/</u>>.
- INIA 1994, 'Nitrógeno en pasturas', Serie Técnica 51, Instituto Nacional de Investigación Agropecuaria, Uruguay.
- INIA 2004, 'Guía para la alimentación de rumiantes', Serie Técnica 142, Instituto Nacional de Investigación Agropecuaria, Uruguay, 81 p, ISBN: 9974-38-187-8.
- Irisarri, M 2014, 'Dos aspectos del ciclo del nitrógeno fijación biológica y emisión de óxido nitroso', Tesis de doctorado, Montevideo, Udelar, Facultad de Agronomía, viewed 1 May 2021, <<u>https://www.colibri.udelar.edu.uy/jspui/handle/20.500.12008/24143?mode=full</u>>.
- IPCC 2014, 'Annex II Glossary', IPCC, Geneva, Switzerland.
- IPCC, FAO and IFAD 2015, 'Emerging activities to combat climate change use of FAO data and IPCC GHG Inventory Guidelines for Agriculture and Land Use', Eds: Tubiello, F.N., Neeff, T., Tanabe, K., Baasansuren, J. and Fukuda, M. Report of the joint FAO-IPCC-IFAD Expert Meeting, Pub. IGES, Japan, viewed 17 September 2020, <<u>https://www.ipccnggip.iges.or.jp/</u>>.
- IPCC 2019a, Refinement to the 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories, N₂O Emissions from Managed Soils, and CO₂ Emissions from Lime and Urea Application, Chapter 11, Volume 4: Agriculture, Forestry and Other Land Use.
- IPCC 2019b, Refinement to the 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories, Emissions from Livestoch and Manure Management, Chapter 10, Volume 4: Agriculture, Forestry and Other Land Use.
- Jackson, MC 2019, *Critical Systems Thinking and the Management of Complexity*, John Wiley & Sons, Oxford.
- Kleinman, PJA, Buda, AR, Sharpley, AN, McDowell, RW & Allen, AL 2011, 'Soil controls of phosphorus in runoff: Management barriers and opportunities', Canadian Journal of Soil Science, vol. 91, no. 3, pp. 329–338, viewed 29 August 2021, <<u>https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edselc&AN=edselc.2-52.0-</u> 79960433260&authtype=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site>.
- Kleinman, PJA, Sharpley, AN, Withers, PJA, Bergström, L, Johnson, LT & Doody, DG 2015, 'Implementing agricultural phosphorus science and management to combat eutrophication', AMBIO: A Journal of the Human Environment, vol. 44, no. 2, p. 297, viewed 29 October 2021,

<<u>https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edssjs&AN=edssjs.C289EBA</u> 7&authtype=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site>.

- Klootwijk, CW, Van Middelaar, CE, Berentsen, PBM, de Boer, IJM 2016 'Dutch dairy farms after milk quota abolition: economic and environmental consequences of a new manure policy', *J. Dairy Sci*, 99, 8384–8396, <<u>https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2015-10781</u>>.
- Ledgard, S, Schils, R, Eriksen, J & Luo, J 2009, 'Environmental impacts of grazed clover/grass pastures', *Irish Journal of Agricultural and Food Research*, vol. 48, no. 2, pp. 209–226, viewed 31 October 2021, <<u>https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edsjsr&AN=edsjsr.20720369</u> &authtype=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site>.

Lemaire, G, Gastal, F, Franzluebbers, A & Chabbi, A 2015, 'Grassland-Cropping Rotations: An Avenue for Agricultural Diversification to Reconcile High Production with Environmental Quality', *Environmental Management*, vol. 56, no. 5, pp. 1065–1077, viewed 1 September 2021, <<u>https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=ccm&AN=110527957&authty</u> pe=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site>.

- Lescano, C, Ruibal, M, Barreto, P, Piñeiro, V, Loyoza, JP, Perdomo, C and Rodríguez-Gallego, L 2017, 'Rol de los pastizales naturales en la retención de nutrientes provenientes de la agricultura', Innotec, 13 (13), 78–91, viewed 18 October 2021, https://doi.org/10.26461/13.08>.
- Lizarralde 2013, 'Relación entre la huella de carbono y las prácticas de manejo en predios lecheros del Uruguay', Tesis Magister en ciencias agrarias, UDELAR, Uruguay.
- Lizarralde, C & Astigarraga L 2014, 'Environmental sustainability of milk production systems', Congress of Uruguayan Animal Production, Montevideo, Uruguay, 2016.
- Llanos, E, Astigarraga, L, Jacques, R, Picasso, V 2013, 'Energy efficiency in dairy systems of Uruguay', Agrociencia Uruguay, v. 17 (2), p. 99–109, viewed 11 October 2020, <<u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/317448379 Energy Efficiency_of_Dairy_Systems_in_Uruguay</u>>.
- MA 2020, 'Inventario Nacional de Gases de Efecto Invernadero serie temporal 1990-2017', Minister of Environment', Uruguay, viewed 1 October 2021, <<u>https://www.gub.uy/ministerio-ambiente/sites/ministerio-ambiente/files/2021-</u>04/Folleto%20INGEI%20Serie%201990-%202017.pdf>.
- Marshall, CJ, Beck, MR, Garrett, K, Barrell, GK, Al-Marashdeh, O & Gregorini, P 2020, 'Grazing dairy cows with low milk urea nitrogen breeding values excrete less urinary urea nitrogen', Science of the Total Environment, vol. 739, viewed 1 November 2021, <<u>https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edselp&AN=S004896972033</u>5142&site=eds-live&scope=site>.

- Mazzeo, N, Zurbriggen, C, Trimble, M, Bianchi, P, Gadino, I, Steffen, M 2017a, 'Sostenibilidad ambiental del Uruguay: aportes desde el pensamiento resiliente', Instituto Sudamericano para Estudios sobre Resiliencia y Sostenibilidad (SARAS), Bella Vista, Maldonado, Uruguay.
- Mazzeo, N, Steffen, M y Bianchi, P 2017b, 'Casos de estudio: Cambio climático, procesos de análisis y toma de decisión', *Alianza Clima y Desarrollo*.
- Meadows, DH 2010, 'Leverage Points: Places to Intervene in a System', Solutions: For a Sustainable & Desirable Future, vol. 1, no. 1, p. 41, viewed 10 July 2021, <<u>https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edb&AN=61167475&site=eds</u> <u>-live&scope=site</u>>.
- MGAP 2013, 'Anuario estadistico agropecuario', Montevideo. 270 p., viewed 11 October 2021, http://www.mgap.gub.uy/Dieaanterior/Anuario2013/DIEA_Anuario_2013.pdf>.
- MGAP 2015, 'Regiones agropecuarias del Uruguay', DIEA, Montevideo 38 p., viewed 11 October 2021, http://www.mgap.gub.uy/dieaanterior/regiones/regiones2015.pdf>.
- MGAP 2019, 'Plan Nacional de Adaptación a la Variabilidad y el Cambio Climático para el Sector Agropecuario de Uruguay', Montevideo: FAO-PNUD-MGAP, viewed 12 October 2021, <<u>https://www4.unfccc.int/sites/NAPC/Documents/Parties/NAP%20Agriculture%20Urug</u> <u>uay.pdf</u>>.
- MGAP 2020, 'Lechería Sostenible en la Cuenca Santa Lucía', viewed 12 October 2021, <<u>https://www.gub.uy/ministerio-ganaderia-agricultura-pesca/comunicacion/convocatorias/lecheria-sostenible-cuenca-santa-lucia</u>>.
- Mosier AR, Duxbury JM, Freney JR, Heinemeyer O, Minami K 1996, 'Nitrous oxide emissions from agricultural fields: assessment, measurement and mitigation', Plant and Soil 181: 95-108
- Mosier AR 1998, 'Soil processes and global change', Biology and Fertility of Soils 27:221-229.
- Moss, B 2008, 'Water Pollution by Agriculture', Philosophical Transactions: Biological Sciences, vol. 363, no. 1491, p. 659, viewed 1 May 2021, <<u>https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edsjsr&AN=edsjsr.20208456</u> <u>&site=eds-live&scope=site</u>>.
- Muller, C. (2017), 'Modelling dairy farm systems: processes, predicaments and possibilities', In: Science and policy: nutrient management challenges for the next generation, (Eds L. D. Currie and M. J. Hedley), http://flrc.massey.ac.nz/publications.html, Occasional Report No. 30. Fertilizer and Lime Research Centre, Massey University, Palmerston North, New Zealand. 15 pages.

- MVOTMA 2010, 'Third national communication to the conference of the parties to the United Nations framework convention on climate change: Executive summary', DINAMA, Climate Change Unit, Montevideo: MVOTMA. 34 p.
- MVOTMA 2013, 'Plan de acción para la protección del agua en la cuenca del Santa Lucía', DINAMA, viewed 1 October 2021, <<u>https://www.gub.uy/ministerio-ambiente/comunicacion/publicaciones/plan-accion-para-proteccion-del-agua-cuenca-del-santa-lucia-junio-2015</u>>.
- MVOTMA 2018, 'Plan de Acción Santa Lucía Medidas de segunda generación', DINAMA, viewed 1 October 2021, <<u>https://www.gub.uy/ministerio-ambiente/comunicacion/publicaciones/plan-accion-santa-lucia-medidas-segunda-generacion</u>>.
- MVOTMA 2019, 'Plan Nacional Ambiental para el Desarrollo Sostenible', MVOTMA, Montevideo, 174 p., viewed 1 October 2021, <<u>https://www.gub.uy/ministerio-</u> ambiente/politicas-y-gestion/planes/plan-nacional-ambiental>.
- Norström, AV, Cvitanovic, C, Löf, MF, West, S, Wyborn, C, Balvanera, P, Bednarek, AT, Bennett, EM, Biggs, R, de Bremond, A, Campbell, BM, Canadell, JG, Carpenter, SR, Folke, C, Fulton, EA, Gaffney, O, Gelcich, S, Jouffray, J-B, Leach, M, Le Tissier, M, Martín-López, B, Louder, E, Loutre, M-F, Meadow, AM, Nagendra, H, Payne, D, Peterson, GD, Reyers, B, Scholes, R, Speranza, CI, Spierenburg, M, Stafford-Smith, M, Tengö, M, van der Hel, S, van Putten, I & Österblom, H 2020, 'Principles for knowledge coproduction in sustainability research', *Nature Sustainability*, vol. 3, no. 3, p. 182, viewed 3 November 2021, <<u>https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edssjs&AN=edssjs.3B36C8D</u> <u>3&authtype=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site</u>>.
- NorthWestern 2021, NetLogo, The Center for Connected Learning and Computer-Based Modelling, NorthWestern University, Illinois, United State of America, viewed 9 September 2021, <<u>http://ccl.northwestern.edu/netlogo-ccl.shtml</u>>.
- NRC 2001, 'Nutrient Requirements of Dairy Cattle', 7th rev. ed. Natl Acad. Press, Washington, DC.
- NRC 2003, 'Air emissions from animal feeding operations: current knowledge, future needs 2003, National Academies Press', Chapter Appendix D, viewed 13 November 2021, <<u>https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=cat00097a&AN=deakin.b3564</u> <u>336&authtype=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site</u>>.
- Olano, H 2017, 'Factores que favorecen la ocurrencia de cianobacterias en la cuenca del Rio Santa Lucia, Uruguay: aporte de nutrientes y fitoplancton de una fuente puntual', Tesis licenciado en ciencias biológicas, UDELAR, Uruguay.

- Otero, A, Castro, M, 2019, 'Variability of alfalfa (Medicago sativa L.) seasonal forage production in the southwest of Uruguay', Agrociencia *Uruguay* 23 (1), 1–11, https://org/10.31285/AGRO.23.1.9.
- Paerl H, Dennis R & Whitall D 2002, 'Atmospheric Deposition of Nitrogen: Implications for Nutrient Over-Enrichment of Coastal Waters', *Estuaries*, vol. 25, no. 4, pp. 677–693, viewed 12 November 2021, <<u>https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edsjsr&AN=edsjsr.1353026&</u> <u>authtype=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site</u>>.
- Perdomo C, Irissari P, Ernst O 2009, 'Nitrous oxide emissions from an Uruguayan argiudoll under different tillage and rotation treatments', *Nutrient cycling in agroecosystems*, vol. 84, no. 2, pp. 119–128, viewed 9 June 2021, <https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edsagr&AN=edsagr.US20130 1637041&authtype=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site>.
- Perdomo, CH, Barreto, P, Piñeiro, V 2015, 'Pérdida de fósforo desde suelos agrícolas hacia aguas superficiales: resultados preliminares para Uruguay y posibles medidas de manejo para mitigar riesgos', In: IV Simposio Nacional de Agricultura, (2015, Estación Experimental Mario A. Cassinoni). Trabajos presentados. Paysandú, Uruguay. pp.77-94.
- Peterson SO, Rgina K, Pöllinger A, Rigler E, Valli L, Yamulki S, Esala M, Fabbri C, Syväsalo E, Vnther FP 2006, 'Nitrous oxide emissions from organic and conventional crop rotations in five european countries', Agriculture Ecosystem Environment 112: 200-206.
- Powell, JM, Gourley, CJP, Rotz, CA & Weaver, DM 2010, 'Nitrogen use efficiency: A potential performance indicator and policy tool for dairy farms', *Environmental Science and Policy*, vol. 13, no. 3, pp. 217–228, viewed 3 November 2021, <<u>https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edselp&AN=S146290111000</u> 0250&authtype=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site>.
- Prado, A, Corré, W, Gallejones, P, Pardo, G, Pinto, M, Hierro, O & Oenema, O 2016, 'NUTGRANJA 2.0: a simple mass balance model to explore the effects of different management strategies on nitrogen and greenhouse gases losses and soil phosphorus changes in dairy farms', *Mitigation & Adaptation Strategies for Global Change*, vol. 21, no. 7, pp. 1145–1164, viewed 12 November 2021, <<u>https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=eih&AN=117419573&authtyp e=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site>.</u>
- Pretty, J 2008, 'Agricultural Sustainability: Concepts, Principles and Evidence', *Philosophical Transactions: Biological Sciences*, vol. 363, no. 1491, p. 447, viewed 17 September 2021, <<u>https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edsjsr&AN=edsjsr.20208443</u> &authtype=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site>.
- Prieto, EC & Osorio, ÁA 2019, 'Efectividad de cuatro prácticas agroecológicas de conservación de suelos, frente a procesos erosivos hídricos en Guasca -- Cundinamarca. (Spanish)',

Revista Lasallista de Investigación, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 61–74, viewed 1 September 2021, <<u>https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edb&AN=139419908&authty</u>pe=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site>.

- Railsback, SF & Grimm, V 2019, 'Agent-based and individual-based modelling: a practical introduction', Second edition., Princeton University Press, viewed 2 October 2021, <<u>https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=cat00097a&AN=deakin.b4227</u>264&authtype=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site>.
- Rockström, J, Steffen, W, Noone, K, Persson, Å, Chapin, F, Lambin, E, Lenton, T, Scheffer, M, Folke, C, Schellnhuber, H, Nykvist, B, de Wit, C, Hughes, T, van der Leeuw, S, Rodhe, H, Sörlin, S, Snyder, P, Costanza, R, Svedin, U, Falkenmark, M, Karlberg, L, Corell, R, Fabry, V, Hansen, J, Walker, B, Liverman, D, Richardson, K, Crutzen, P & Foley, J 2009, 'Planetary Boundaries : Exploring the Safe Operating Space for Humanity', Ecology and Society, vol. 14. no. 2, viewed 2 October 2021. https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edsjsr&AN=edsjsr.26268316 &authtype=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site>.
- Rochette, P. and Janzen, H.H 2005, 'Towards a revised coefficient for estimating N₂O emissions from legumes', Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosyst., 73, 171-179.
- Rodriguez, M 2021, 'Circularidad de nutrientes en producción de leche en Uruguay: Sistemas de gestión de efluentes de 'Tambo' implementados por la academia y evaluados en un proyecto multi-institucional: estudio de casos', Uruguay, viewed 15 September 2021, <<u>https://www.inale.org/informes/estudio-de-casos-de-los-sistemas-de-gestion-de-</u> <u>Tambo's-implementados-por-la-academia-2021/>.</u>
- Ryan, W, Hennessy, D, Murphy, JJ, Boland, TM & Shalloo, L 2011, 'A model of nitrogen efficiency in contrasting grass-based dairy systems', *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 94, no. 2, pp. 1032–1044, viewed 9 September 2021, <<u>https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edselp&AN=S002203021100</u> 0518&authtype=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site>.
- Schlesinger, WH, 2009, 'On the fate of anthropogenic nitrogen', Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 106 (1): 203-208.
- Senattore, F. & Russo, P 2019, 'Análisis de factibilidad de la gestión y reutilización de efluentes líquidos de 'Tambo'', Tesis de grado, Estación Experimental Facultad de Agronomía, Salto, 180p, viewed 21 April 2021, <<u>https://agua.unorte.edu.uy/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/Proyecto-Senattore-Russo.pdf</u>>.
- Sharpley, AN, McDowell, RW, Weld, JL & Kleinman, PJA 2001, 'Assessing site vulnerability to phosphorus loss in an agricultural watershed', *Journal of Environmental Quality*, vol. 30, no. 6, pp. 2026–2036, viewed 3 May 2021, <<u>https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edselc&AN=edselc.2-52.0-0035214152&authtype=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site>.</u>

- Sharpley, A, Jarvie, HP, Buda, A, May, L, Spears, B & Kleinman, P (2013), 'Phosphorus Legacy: Overcoming the Effects of Past Management Practices to Mitigate Future Water Quality Impairment', *Journal of Environmental Quality*, vol. 42, no. 5, pp. 1308–1326, viewed 12 May <<u>https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edswsc&AN=0003240952000</u> 03&authtype=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site>.
- Sharpley, A, Bergström, L, Aronsson, H et al. 2015, 'Future agriculture with minimized phosphorus losses to waters: Research needs and direction', *Ambio*, vol. 44, pp. S163–S179, viewed 26 September 2021, <<u>https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edsjsr&AN=edsjsr.24670870</u> &authtype=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site>.
- Smith, VH 2003, *Eutrophication of freshwater and coastal marine ecosystems a global problem*, Environmental Science and Pollution Research, vol. 10, no. 2, p. 126, viewed 26 May 2021, <<u>https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edssjs&AN=edssjs.F54259E5</u> &authtype=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site>.
- Smith, DR, Haney, RL & Huang, C 2017, 'Phosphorus fertilization, soil stratification, and potential water quality impacts', Journal of Soil and Water Conservation, vol. 72, no. 5, pp. 417–424, viewed 26 August 2021, ">https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edselc&AN=edselc.2-52.0-85033233045&authtype=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site>">https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edselc&AN=edselc.2-52.0-85033233045&authtype=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site>">https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edselc&AN=edselc.2-52.0-85033233045&authtype=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site>">https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edselc&AN=edselc.2-52.0-85033233045&authtype=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site>">https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edselc&AN=edselc.2-52.0-85033233045&authtype=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site>">https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edselc&AN=edselc.2-52.0-85033233045&authtype=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site>">https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edselc&AN=edselc.2-52.0-85033233045&authtype=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site>">https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edselc&AN=edselc
- Sposito, V 2020a, 'Strategic Thinking, Strategic Planning and Decision Making', Deakin University, Centre for Regional and Rural Futures, Faculty of Science, Engineering and Built Environment, Melbourne, Australia.
- Sposito, V 2020b, 'A holistic framework for sustainable regional development', Deakin University, Centre for Regional and Rural Futures, Faculty of Science, Engineering and Built Environment, Melbourne, Australia.
- Sposito, V 2021, 'System Thinking, Foundations, Perspectives, Methodologies, Methods Practice', Deakin University, Centre for Regional and Rural Futures, Faculty of Science, Engineering and Built Environment, Melbourne, Australia.
- Steffen, W, Richardson, K, Rockström, J, Cornell, S, Fetzer, I, Bennett, E, Biggs, R, Carpenter, S, de Vries, W, de Wit, C, Folke, C, Gerten, D, Heinke, J, Mace, G, Persson, L, Ramanathan, V, Reyers, B, Sörlin, S 2015, 'Planetary boundaries: Guiding human development on a changing planet', Science, vol. 347, Issue 6223, DOI: 10.1126/science.1259855, viewed 11 October 2020, <<u>http://science.sciencemag.org/content/347/6223/1259855</u>>.
- Stirling, S, Fariña, S, Pacheco, D & Vibart, R 2021, 'Whole-farm modelling of grazing dairy systems in Uruguay', Agricultural Systems, vol. 193, viewed 10 October 2021, <<u>https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edselp&AN=S0308521X2100</u> <u>1803&authtype=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site</u>>.

- Tayyab, U & McLean, FA 2015, 'Phosphorus Losses and On-Farm Mitigation Options for Dairy
Farming Systems: A Review', JAPS: Journal of Animal & Plant Sciences, vol. 25, no. 2,
pp. 318–327, viewed 28 April 2021,
<https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN=103188297&authty
pe=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site>.
- The Dairy Alliance 2021, 'Dairy Farm Nutrient Cycle', viewed 28 September 2021, https://www.pinterest.com/pin/69946600439266147.
- Tubiello, FN, Salvatore, M, Ferrara, AF, House, J, Federici, S, Rossi, S, Biancalani, R, Condor Golec, RD, Jacobs, H, Flammini, A, Prosperi, P, Cardenas-Galindo, P, Schmidhuber, J, Sanz Sanchez, MJ, Srivastava, N & Smith, P 2015, 'The Contribution of Agriculture, Forestry and other Land Use activities to Global Warming, 1990-2012', *Global Change Biology*, no. 7, p. 2655, viewed 1 May 2021, <<u>http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edsgao&AN=edsgc1.41824809</u> <u>2&authtype=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site</u>>.
- UNFCCC 1992, 'United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change', United Nations Department of Global Communications, FCCC/INFORMAL/84 GE.05-62220 (E) 200705.
- van Leeuwen, M, van Middelaar, C, Oenema, J, van Dam, J, Stoorvogel, J, Stoof, C & de Boer, I 2019, 'The relevance of spatial scales in nutrient balances on dairy farms', Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, vol. 269, pp. 125–139, viewed 6 November 2021, <<u>https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edselp&AN=S016788091830</u> 4079&authtype=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site>.
- Veltman, K, Jones, CD, Gaillard, R, Cela, S, Chase, L, Duval, BD, Izaurralde, RC, Ketterings, QM, Li, C, Matlock, M, Reddy, A, Rotz, A, Salas, W, Vadas, P & Jolliet, O 2017, 'Comparison of process-based models to quantify nutrient flows and greenhouse gas emissions associated with milk production', *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, vol. 237, pp. 31–44, viewed 11 July 2021, <<u>http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edselp&AN=S0167880916306</u> 004&authtype=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site>.
- WCED, S. W. S. (1987). World Commission on Environment and Development. Our common future.
- Wedderburn, ME, Montes de Oca, O, Dieguez, F 2013, 'Developing Frameworks to assess impacts of multiple drivers of change on grasslands systems', Proceedings of the 22nd International Grassland Congress, pp. 1797-1801, <<u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/257384872</u>>.
- Withers, PJA, Jones, DL, Healey, JR, Talboys, PJ & Sylvester-Bradley, R 2014, 'Feed the crop not the soil: Rethinking phosphorus management in the food chain', *Environmental Science and Technology*, vol. 48, no. 12, pp. 6523–6530, viewed 28 April 2021,

<<u>https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edselc&AN=edselc.2-52.0-84902596906&authtype=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site</u>>.

- World Bank and CIAT 2015, 'Climate-smart agriculture in Uruguay', CSA Country Profiles for Africa, Asia, and Latin America and the Caribbean Series. Washington D.C.: The World Bank Group.
- Zhang, X, Davidson, EA, Mauzerall, DL, Searchinger, TD, Dumas, P & Shen, Y 2015, 'Managing nitrogen for sustainable development', Nature, no. 7580, p. 51, viewed 23 July 2021, <<u>https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edsgao&AN=edsgcl.4365443</u> <u>46&authtype=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site</u>>.
- Zhang, Y & Yu, Q 2020, 'Identification of current research intensity and influence factors of agricultural nitrogen loss from cropping systems', *Journal of Cleaner Production*, vol. 276, viewed 29 October 2021, <<u>https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edselp&AN=S095965262033</u>3539&authtype=sso&custid=deakin&site=eds-live&scope=site>.

APPENDICES

A.1. Ethics approval from FVET UDELAR Uruguay as Co-Supervising Institution



Montevideo, 16th August 2021

Deakin University 1 Gheringhap Street Geelong, VIC 3220, Australia

Ref. Ethics Approval - Faculty of Veterinary, University of the Republic of Uruguay (UDELAR), URUGUAY

Dear Jim Rookes,

We hereby report to you, in your capacity as Chair of the Units SLE764/765 Research Thesis 1 and 2 in the Master of Sustainability – Specialisation in Sustainable Regional Development, at Deakin University, to inform that the student Ignacio Sommer (ID: 218615061) is undertaking his research thesis in the School of Veterinary Sciences of Universidad de la República (UDELAR).

UDELAR is acting as the Uruguayan academic Co-Supervising Institution supporting Sommer's research, as required by the Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) signed between Deakin University and our university on 6/5/2016.

Under the co-supervision of Dr. Francisco Dieguez in Uruguay, Sommer's thesis is respecting the consideration of the ethics established by the University. His research project has been categorize as "low level of risk" and the surveys and interviews conducted have been evaluate by the Institution.

Yours sincerely,

C.C.

Signature Redacted by Library

Jose Piaggio; DVM, MS, PhD Dean School of Veterinary Sciences Universidad de la República



Dr. Francisco Dieguez, Co-Supervisor, Faculty of Veterinary UDELAR, Uruguay A/Professor Victor Sposito, Co-Supervisor, Deakin University, Australia A/Professor Robert Faggian, Deakin University, Australia

> Dirección: Lasplaces 1620 - Tel: 1903 interno 2311 fivet.edu.uy

A.2. Participant Consent Form

Participant Consent Form

Student: Ignacio Sommer - ID: 218615061 - Deakin University

Project: Research Thesis - SLE765

Course: Master of Sustainability - S721

1. I consent to participate in the project named above. This consent form relates to the questions I have been asked during the interview and that I have answered to my satisfaction.

2. In relation to this project, please circle your response to the following:

I agree to be interviewed by the researcher

Yes | No

I agree to allow the interview to be recorded by electronic device

Yes | No

I agree to make myself available for further information if required (We may seek to clarify comments once analysis commences or seek additional material)

Yes | No

3. I acknowledge that:

a. my participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw from the project at any time without explanation

b. the project is for the purpose of research and not for profit

c. any identifiable information about me which is gathered during and as the result of my participating in this project will be (i) collected and retained for the purpose of this project and (ii) accessed and analysed only by the researcher for the purpose of conducting this project.

d. my anonymity is preserved, and I will not be identified in publications or otherwise without my express written consent.

e. while the project is in progress information will be securely stored by the researcher on his password protected desktop computer. Once the project is completed the project material will be held at Deakin University until destruction is required in line with privacy laws.

By signing this document, I agree to participate in this project.

Name of Participant:	
----------------------	--

Signature:	
------------	--

Date:	
-------	--

A.3. Collective Learning

1) Farmer group communication: Via ZOOM

Date: 5/7/2021

Participants: 11 farmers' group and technicians' group

<u>Summary</u>: This first communication aimed to present the research objectives and invite the farmers to involve through the collective learning approach.

2) Case study Farmer communication: Via ZOOM

Date: 28.7.2021

Participants: Farmer and farmer's daughter

<u>Summary</u>: The communication had the aim of asking doubts about the records provided by the case study farm. The meeting allowed the understanding of the farm functionality to continue developing the thesis and learn about the farm performance. The question refers to the following topics: livestock management, livestock weight, land use, cows' diet, mineral fertilization and effluent management.

3) Case study Dairy farm: visit to the farm

Date: 2.10.2021

Participants: Farmer and farmer's daughter

<u>Summary</u>: The farm visit had the aim to present the nutrient budget and agent-based model to the case study farmer. It was previous to show it to the whole farmer' group. Also, it aimed to receive farmer feedback to improve the nutrient budget analysis and the model in the last months of the thesis process. Finally, that instance allowed the collective learning between the thesis author and the farmer and family involved.

4) Farmer group communication: face-to-face meeting

Date: 27.10.2021 Participants: Case study farmer, 13 group' farmers and 2 group' technicians.

Summary: Firstly, the main findings of the thesis were transmitted to the farmers. Secondly, the farmers discussed the thesis results and shared the farmers' vision about the nutrient budget and agent-based model. One farmer suggests a solution for the paddocks that have excessive P on the soil. It was to use crops that extract more phosphorus from the ground, such as crops with higher nutritional requirements or crops for grain. Another point that emerged from the farmer case study is that the present research analysis is helpful for the less intensive farmers of the group with less P accumulation in the soil. It means seeing the opportunity of this collective learning and not making excessive phosphorus fertilization since perhaps using soil analysis is possible to verify that more phosphorus is not required. Also, some farmers are worried about the excessive P on soil that can represent losses to the rivers and can be regulated by the government. Furthermore, a point of discussion was to evaluate Milk Urea Nitrogen (MUN) as an indicator of the N situation in the farm system and as a possible strategy to implement. Also, in that meeting, the farmers talk about using pesticides and mineral fertilizer as issues that impact the whole system, especially the soil structure, soil biota, and organic matter decomposition. Furthermore, the farmer's group technician expressed the preoccupation with nitrate problems in water.

A.4. Data for nutrient budget, ABM, and scenarios

Data	Unit	Source	Note
Land use	Hectares	Farmer record	Type and area for each crop. Crop and pasture rotation.
Mineral fertilization	Kg N/ha/year	Farmer record	Average 'Tambo': 93 kg N/ha/year and 0 kg P/ha/year.
	Ka P/ha/year		Average 'rest of the area': 85 kg N/ba/year and 16 kg P/ba/year
	itg i /ild year		(used to whole farm nutrient hudgets)
Imported livestock	Kg/vear	Farmer record	For the "Tambo" hudget, it is assumed that imported feed is
feed	itg/year	i annei record	from outside the system and some proportion is from the rest of
leeu			the farm area (according to farmer records). Also, it is assumed
			that hale is completely used in the year
			For the whole farm budget, it is assumed that the imported feed
Einstien nete of N	V - N/h - /	DUA 1004	Is from outside the system.
Fixation rate of IN	Kg N/na/year	INIA 1994	To calculate BNF. 30 kg N / ton DM of pasture
Atmospheric	Kg N/na/year	Paeri et al. 2002	-
Mills production	Ka mille/voor	Formor record	
which production	Kg mik/year	Farmer record	-
	Kg milk/cow/day		
Meat sold	kg meat/year	Farmer record	It represent the meat sold. Only considered for the whole farm
			nutrient budget.
Number of animals	Annual average per	Farmer record	-
	category		
Cow DM intake	Kg DM/day	Farmer record	Cow diet per month
N and P on	Kg N/kg DM	INIA 2004	-
livestock feed:			
pasture, silage and	Kg P/kg DM		
concentrate	V N/4 11	Г 1	
N and P on milk	Kg N/Kg milk	Farmer record	N on milk=Protein milk/ 6.38
	Kg P/kg milk	NRC 2001	P on milk=0.1%
N and P on meat	Kg N/kg milk	NRC 2003	N cow live weight= 2.42%
	Ko P/ko milk	NRC 2001	P on meat=0.72%
N on animal excreta	Kg N/cow/day	IPCC 2019b	Tier 2, equation 10.31. N is available in 25% of manure and
	8		100% of urine
P on animal excreta	Kg P/cow/day	P excreta: P diet	
	8	– P milk	
Proportion of time	Hours per day	Farmer	Dairy cows spend 4 hours per day in milking parlour and 20 in
in paddock and in	1 2		paddock. To calculate manure proportion and effluent generation
milking parlour			
Conversion factor	-	INIA 2004	-
protein to nitrogen			
NUE and PUE	%	Aarons et al.2020	Animal nutrient use eefficiency (%) = Milk nutrient / Nutrient
			Intake * 100
GIS	-	ArcMap 10.7.1	Only for ABM. Farmer register implemented on ArcMap
Pasture's growth	KgDM/day	Otero and Castro	Only for ABM
rate		2019	
Absorption of N and	Kg N-P/ton DM	IPNI	Only for ABM
P by the plants			
N total, N mobile,	Kg N/year	Prado et al. 2016	Only for ABM. N mobile: 100% urine $+ \frac{3}{4}$ of feces + fertilizer.
and N immobile		L	N immobile: ¹ /4 of feces + BNF
N OUTPUTS: Efflue	nt and Manure manage	ment	TT: 0
N ₂ O Direct	Kg N/year	IPCC 2019b	Tier 3, equation 10.25
Volatilization	Kg N/year	IPCC 2019b	Tier 1, equation 10.26
Leaching	Kg N/year	IPCC 2019b	Tier 1, equation 10.27
N OUTPUTS: Paddo	OCK	The cost of	
N ₂ O Direct	Kg N/year	IPCC 2019a	Lier I, equation 11.1

Table 11. Data for nutrient budget, ABM, and scenarios.

Kg N/year	IPCC 2019a	Tier 1, equation 11.9
Kg N/year	IPCC 2019a	Tier 1, equation 11.10
nt and Manure manage	ment	
Kg P/year	Assumption	Assumption: 20% of the P into the effluent management system
		is leached in the year due to the condition
ck		
Kg P/ha//year	Perdomo et al.	Calculated using the P index. Enrichment Index: 1.5; total
	2015	phosphorus: 450 mg/kg soil; erosion: 4.7 and 6.3 Mg soil/ha/year
Kg P/ha//year	Perdomo et al.	Calculated using the P index. Runoff: 360 (Inumet); CPS: 1.43
	2015	(De Lucca 2020)
Mg soil/ha/year	Erosion 6.0	Using the program Erosion 6.0 (FAgro UDELAR) for the case
		study farm situation:
		Tambo': 4.7 Mg soil/ha/year
		Tainoo . 4.7 Wg son/ha/year
		Whole farm 6.3 Mg soil/ha/year
ppm Pbray	Farmer record	Average 'Tambo' 41 ppm Pbray
		Average whole farm: 30 ppm Pbray
	Kg N/year Kg N/year nt and Manure manager Kg P/year ck Kg P/ha//year Kg P/ha//year Mg soil/ha/year ppm Pbray	Kg N/yearIPCC 2019aKg N/yearIPCC 2019ant and Manure managementKg P/yearKg P/yearAssumptionck2015Kg P/ha//yearPerdomo et al. 2015Mg soil/ha/yearErosion 6.0ppm PbrayFarmer record

Source: elaborated by the author.

A.5. NPM agent-based model

Entity	Variables
	Centroid; paddock-id; no-id-paddock; biomass-my-pasture-kgDM-ha; surface-my-paddock; forage-species;
	hismon plant to DM has hismon plant total to DMs hismon growth rates surfaces coefficient charmetian N
	oromass-prant-kgDW-na, oromass-prant-total-kgDW, oromass-growth-rate, surrace, coefficient-aosorption-iv,
	absorption-N-patch; pool-N-patch-total; pool-N-patch-kg-ha; pool-N-total-my-paddock; pool-N-kg-ha-mi-paddock;
	coefficient-absorption-P, phosphorus-fertilizer-ha, nitrogen-fertilizer-ha, ppm-phosphorus, ppm-phosphorus-my-
Patch-own	paddock; P-soluble; P-particulate; P-total; Fact-Estrat; P-estrat-2.5; CPS; Concentration-P-soil; FBN-kgDM: pool-
	$N-mobile-patch-total;\ pool-N-mobile-patch-kg-ha;\ pool-N-immobile-patch-total;\ pool-N-immobile-patch-kg-ha;$
	pool-N-mobile-patch-total-mi-potrero; pool-N-mobile-patch-kg-ha-mi-paddock; pool-N-immobile-patch-total-mi-
	notrero: nool-N-immobile-natch-kg-ha-mi-naddock: direct-loss-narcel: loss-volatiliz-nlot: lost-leachate-nlot:
	policie, poor i minioone pilen ng na ni paoboen, on eel toos paleer, toos venaniz piet, toot reachate piet,
	contribution-N-excretion-cows; daily-N-immobile excretion; daily-N-mobile excretion
	Weight; milk-production; protein-milk; daily-protein-production; N-milk; N-live-weight; N-retained; daily-
	consumption-DM; daily-consumption-DM-pasture; daily-consumption-DM-reserve; daily-consumption-DM-
	concentrate; daily-protein-pasture-consumption; daily-consumption-protein-reserve; daily-protein-concentrate-
	consumption; daily-total-protein-consumption; daily-consumption-total-N; efficiency-use-N; daily-N excretion;
Comor	daily N facas averation, daily N urina averation, profile diat % posture, profile diat % reserve, profile diat %
Cow-own	dany-iv-leces excretion, dany-iv-urine excretion, prome-diet-% pasture, prome-diet-% reserve, prome-diet-%
	concentrate; P-milk; daily-production-phosphorus; daily-consumption-phosphorus-pasture; daily-consumption-
	phosphorus-reserve; daily-consumption-phosphorous-concentrate; daily-consumption-total-phosphorus; efficiency-
	use-P; excretion-daily-P
Effluent Systown	Stock-N-effluents; stock-N-effluents-immobile; stock-N-effluents-mobile; direct-N-loss; loss-N-volatiliz; loss-N- leaching: stock-P-effluents; loss-P-leaching

Table 12. Entities and States Variables of NPM model.

A.6. Dairy farm case study

	Case study (2020)	H1 (2019-2020)	H2 (2019-2020)
Milking and Dry cows (VM)	343	460	367
Milking cows (VO)	283	354	296
VO / VM ratio	0.83	0.77	0.81
Hectare VM	214	491	306
Total area (ha)	261	883	569
Property (%)	46	37	46
Stocking rate (VM/ha VM)	1.6	0.94	1.2
Animal productivity (l/VO/day)	23.4	19.5	20.1
Land productivity (l/ha VM)	11439	5132	5916
Milk production (l/year)	2447875	2517695	2168103
Milk production (l/day)	6707	6898	5940
Pasture intake (Kg DM/ha VM)	4452	2026	3954
Silage intake (Kg DM/ha VM)	1858	2237	1942
Concentrate intake (Kg DM/ha VM)	3279	1868	2118
Pasture intake (Kg DM/VO/day)	9.1	7.7	11.2
Silage intake (Kg DM/VO/day)	3.9	8.5	5.5
Concentrate intake (Kg DM/VO/day)	6.7	7.1	6
Total intake (kg DM/VO/day)	19.7	23.3	22.7
% Pasture	46%	33%	49%
% Silage	20%	36%	24%
% Concentrate	34%	30%	26%

Table 13. Case study summary and comparison with typology INALE.

Source: elaborated by the author. Information H1 and H2 from INALE 2020.

A.7. Scenarios

NITROGEN						
INPUTS			OUTPUTS			
	kgN/year	%		kgN/year	%	
Mineral fertilizer	13222	25	Milk	14041	34	
Imported livestock feed	26146	50	Environment	27376	66	
Biological Nitrogen Fixation	12359	24	Effluent management	-	10	
Atmospheric deposition	618	1	Direct	80	0.3	
			Volatilization	2609	10	
			Leaching	161	0.6	
			<u>Paddock</u>	-	90	
			Direct	354	1	
			Volatilization	9885	36	
			Leaching	14286	52	
Total inputs	52345	100	Total outputs	41417	100	
Total inputs/ha	415		Total outputs/ha	329		

Table 14. Scenario 1 'Tambo' nitrogen budget.

PHOSPHOROUS						
INPUTS			OUTPUTS			
	kgP/year	%		kgP/year	%	
Mineral fertilizer	0	0	Milk	2448	67	
Imported livestock feed	4437	100	Environment	1205	33	
			<u>Effluent management</u>	-	13	
			Leaching	162	13	
			<u>Paddock</u>	-	87	
			Particulate P	395	33	
			Soluble P	648	54	
Total inputs	4437	100	Total outputs	3653	100	
Total inputs/ha	35		Total outputs/ha	29		

Table 15. Scenario 1 'Tambo' phosphorous budget.

Source: elaborated by the author.

NITROGEN							
INPUTS			OUTPUTS				
	kgN/year	%		kgN/year	%		
Mineral fertilizer	11667	25	Milk	14041	34		
Imported livestock feed	19809	42	Environment	27004	66		
Biological Nitrogen Fixation	15449	32	<u>Effluent management</u>	-	11		
Atmospheric deposition	618	1	Direct	81	0.3		
			Volatilization	2633	10		
			Leaching	162	0.6		
			<u>Paddock</u>	-	89		
			Direct	340	1		
			Volatilization	9789	36		
			Leaching	13999	52		
Total inputs	47543	100	Total outputs	41045	100		
Total inputs/ha	377		Total outputs/ha	326			

Table 16. Scenario 2 'Tambo' nitrogen budget.

Source: elaborated by the author.

Table 17. Scenario 2 'Tambo' phosphorous budget.

PHOSPHOROUS						
INPUTS			OUTPUTS			
	kgP/year	%		kgP/year	%	
Mineral fertilizer	0	0	Milk	2448	67	
Imported livestock feed	3307	100	Environment	1189	33	
			<u>Effluent management</u>	-	12	
			Leaching	146	12	
			<u>Paddock</u>	-	88	
			Particulate P	395	33	
			Soluble P	648	54	
Total inputs	3307	100	Total outputs	3637	100	
Total inputs/ha	26		Total outputs/ha	29		

NITROGEN						
INPUTS			OUTPUTS			
	kgN/year	%		kgN/year	%	
Mineral fertilizer	11667	24	Milk	11233	33	
Imported livestock feed	20917	43	Environment	22601	67	
Biological Nitrogen Fixation	15449	32	Effluent management	-	10	
Atmospheric deposition	618	1	Direct	64	0.3	
			Volatilization	2087	9	
			Leaching	128	0.6	
			<u>Paddock</u>	-	90	
			Direct	307	1	
			Volatilization	8027	36	
			Leaching	11986	53	
Total inputs	48650	100	Total outputs	33834	100	
Total inputs/ha	386		Total outputs/ha	269		

Table 18. Scenario 3 'Tambo' nitrogen budget.

Source: elaborated by the author.

Table 19. Scenario 3 'Tambo' phosphorous budget.

PHOSPHOROUS									
INPUTS			OUTPUTS						
	kgP/year	%		kgP/year	%				
Mineral fertilizer	0	0	Milk	1958	63				
Imported livestock feed	3550	100	Environment	1173	37				
			Effluent management	-	11				
			Leaching	130	11				
			<u>Paddock</u>	-	89				
			Particulate P	395	34				
			Soluble P	648	55				
Total inputs	3550	100	Total outputs	3131	100				
Total inputs/ha	28		Total outputs/ha	25					

Source: elaborated by the author.

Table 20. Scenario 4 Whole Farm nitrogen budget.

NITROGEN									
INPUTS			OUTPUTS						
	kgN/year	%		kgN/year	%				
Mineral fertilizer	17863	24	Milk	14041	27				
Imported livestock feed	23455	31	Meat	1778	3				
Biological Nitrogen Fixation	32212	43	Environment	36778	70				
Atmospheric deposition	1278	2	Effluent management	-	8				
			Direct	80	0.2				
			Volatilization	2609	7				
			Leaching	161	0.4				
			<u>Paddock</u>	-	92				
			Direct	551	1				
			Volatilization	13196	36				
			Leaching	20180	55				
Total inputs	74808	100	Total outputs	52596	100				
Total inputs/ha	287		Total outputs/ha	202					

		_			-				
PHOSPHOROUS									
INPUTS			OUTPUTS						
	kgP/year	%		kgP/year	%				
Mineral fertilizer	1436	29	Milk	2448	48				
Imported livestock feed	3552	71	Meat	529	10				
		Г	Environment	2113	42				
			Effluent management	-	8				
			Leaching	162	8				
			Paddock		92				
			Particulate P	1013	48				
			Soluble P	938	44				
Total inputs	4988	100	Total outputs	5089	100				
Total inputs/ha	19		Total outputs/ha	20					

Table 21. Scenario 4 Whole Farm phosphorous budget.